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As previously reported on a current report on Form 8-K filed on June 1, 2021 (the “Original Filing”), on June 1, 2021, Deluxe Corporation (the “Company”) consummated the
acquisition of FAPS Holdings, Inc.(“FAPS”). This current report on Form 8-K/A amends the Original Filing to include the financial statements and pro forma financial
information required by Item 9.01 of Form 8-K.
 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 
(a) Financial statements of business acquired.
 
The audited consolidated financial statements of FAPS as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
are filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this current report on Form 8-K/A.
 
The unaudited consolidated financial statements of FAPS as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 are filed as
Exhibit 99.2 to this current report on Form 8-K/A.
 
(b) Pro forma financial information.
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of comprehensive income as of and for the three
months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 are filed as Exhibit 99.3 to this current report on Form 8-K/A.
 
(c) Exhibits:
 

Exhibit
Number  Description of Exhibit 

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

99.1 The audited consolidated financial statements of FAPS as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.

99.2 The unaudited consolidated financial statements of FAPS as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and for the three months ended March 31, 2020.

99.3 The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of comprehensive income as of and
for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 

 

 

https://content.equisolve.net/deluxe/sec/0001104659-21-102895/for_pdf/tm2124316d1_ex23-1.htm
https://content.equisolve.net/deluxe/sec/0001104659-21-102895/for_pdf/tm2124316d1_ex23-1.htm
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly
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Date: August 10, 2021 DELUXE CORPORATION
   
  By: /s/ Scott Bomar
  Name: Scott Bomar
  Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 

 



 
Exhibit 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-95739, 333-52452, 333-52454, 333-89532, 333-150674, 333-181435,
333-223180 and 333-238105) of Deluxe Corporation of our report dated April 20, 2021, except for additional disclosures made in preparation for an SEC filing discussed in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, as to which the date is July 22, 2021, relating to the financial statements of FAPS Holdings, Inc., which appears in this Current
Report on Form 8-K/A.
 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Dallas, Texas
August 10, 2021
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Report of Independent Auditors
 

To the Board of Directors of FAPS Holdings, Inc.
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of FAPS Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended.

 
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

 
Auditors’ Responsibility

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 2121 North Pearl Street, Suite 2000, Dallas, Texas 75201
T: (214) 999 1400, F: (214) 754 7991, www.pwc.com/us

 

 



 

 

 
 

Opinion
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of FAPS Holdings, Inc. and its
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Emphasis of Matter

 
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for revenue from contracts with customers in
2019. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

 
Dallas, Texas 
April 20, 2021, except for additional disclosures made in preparation for an SEC filing discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, as to which the
date is July 22, 2021.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
    December 31,  
    2020     2019  
Assets            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 8,478,873    $ 6,783,371 
Current portion of restricted cash     232,373      378,745 
Funds held for merchants     94,295,263      75,291,711 
Accounts receivable, net     22,605,817      22,881,642 
Expected merchant funds     2,993,240      2,127,609 
Current portion of lease payments receivable, net     743,140      981,301 
Inventory, net     1,680,931      1,090,352 
Current portion of notes receivable     -      125,000 
Other current assets     3,679,044      4,402,240 

Total current assets     134,708,681      114,061,971 
Restricted cash     3,227,120      1,676,683 
Lease payments receivable, net     1,135,151      1,503,639 
Notes receivable     -      83,333 
Property and equipment, net     31,697,138      32,329,782 
Other assets     9,692,889      7,557,108 
Intangible assets, net     58,368,956      74,897,278 
Goodwill     343,945,227      343,945,227 

Total assets   $ 582,775,162    $ 576,055,021 
Liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and shareholders' equity              
Liabilities              

Funds owed to merchants   $ 97,520,876    $ 77,798,064 
Accounts payable     2,760,103      2,681,874 
Income taxes payable     620,060      997,175 
Reserve for chargebacks and merchant loss     427,908      415,394 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities     40,639,058      42,747,587 
Deferred revenue     4,301,554      3,591,352 

Total current liabilities     146,269,559      128,231,446 
Other long-term liabilities     4,028,585      1,807,667 
Deferred tax liability, net     26,237,110      23,499,136 
Long-term debt obligations     245,900,234      265,167,351 

Total liabilities     422,435,488      418,705,600 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)              
Redeemable preferred stock, 12% series A, $.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2020 and 2019; 10,039

outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019          18,129,498            16,107,824   
Shareholders’ equity              

Class C common stock, $.01 par value, 1 share authorized and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019        .01          .01  
Class B common stock, $.01 par value, 1 share authorized and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019        .01          .01  
Class A common stock, $.01 par value, 17,999,998 shares authorized; 9,939,291 outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019        99,393          99,393  
Treasury stock, at cost, 48,084 and 34,591 shares at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively        (976,596)        (553,456)
Additional paid-in capital     152,105,671      154,430,309 
Shareholder notes receivable     (3,222,753)     (3,337,939)
Accumulated deficit     (5,795,539)     (9,396,710)

Total shareholders’ equity     142,210,176      141,241,597 
Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and shareholders' equity   $ 582,775,162    $ 576,055,021 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
  
    Years Ended December 31,  
    2020     2019  
Revenue   $ 288,322,188    $ 300,046,586 
Operating expenses              

Other costs of service     166,501,208      170,731,607 
Selling, general and administrative expenses     70,109,486      75,120,041 
Depreciation and amortization     24,393,067      26,756,248 

      261,003,761      272,607,896 
Income from operations     27,318,427      27,438,690 

Interest expense     21,642,621      25,827,551 
Other income     (16,440)     (19,030)

Income before income taxes     5,692,246      1,630,169 
Provision for income taxes     2,091,075      902,590 

Net income     3,601,171      727,579 
Other comprehensive income     -      - 

Comprehensive income   $ 3,601,171    $ 727,579 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
    Class C     Class B     Class A                 Additional     Shareholder     Accumulated     Total  

    Common Stock     Common Stock     Common Stock     Treasury Stock     Paid-in     Notes     Earnings     Shareholders'  
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Capital     Receivable     (Deficit)     Equity  

Balances at December 31, 2018     1    $ 0.01      1    $ 0.01      9,931,339    $ 99,313      (34,591)   $ (553,456)   $ 155,607,708    $ (3,155,273)   $ (11,758,165)   $ 140,240,127 
Issuance of common stock                                 7,952      80                    127,152                    127,232 
Share-based compensation                                                             500,848                    500,848 
Shareholder notes receivable, net                                                                    (182,666)            (182,666)
Common stock dividend - Class B                                                             (9,168)                   (9,168)
Preferred stock dividend - 12%
Series A                                                             (1,796,231)                   (1,796,231)
Net income                                                                           727,579      727,579 
Cumulative effect of adoption of
ASC 606                                                                           1,633,876      1,633,876 
Balances at December 31, 2019     1      0.01      1      0.01      9,939,291      99,393      (34,591)     (553,456)     154,430,309      (3,337,939)     (9,396,710)     141,241,597 
Settlement of stock options                                                             (543,391)                   (543,391)
Share-based compensation                                                             258,502                    258,502 
Repurchase of common stock                                               (13,493)     (423,140)                          (423,140)
Shareholder notes receivable, net                                                                    115,186             115,186 
Common stock dividend - Class B                                                             (18,075)                   (18,075)
Preferred stock dividend - 12%
Series A                                                             (2,021,674)                   (2,021,674)
Net income                                                                           3,601,171      3,601,171 
Balances at December 31, 2020     1    $ 0.01      1    $ 0.01      9,939,291    $ 99,393      (48,084)   $ (976,596)   $ 152,105,671    $ (3,222,753)   $ (5,795,539)   $ 142,210,176 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
    Years Ended December 31,  

    2020     2019  
Cash flows from operating activities              
Net income   $ 3,601,171    $ 727,579 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by              
operating activities              

Share-based compensation expense     258,502      500,848 
Loss on extinguishment of debt     3,259,187      - 
Unrealized foreign currency exchange gain     (20,889)     (26,874)
Provision for lease allowance, merchant loss,              
and accounts receivable     (303,406)     142,885 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment     6,873,283      6,968,159 
Impairment of property and equipment     -      36,000 
Amortization of intangible assets     17,393,340      19,596,716 
Amortization of initial direct costs     126,444      155,374 
Amortization of loan costs, revolver     216,938      193,646 
Amortization of debt issuance costs, term notes     993,936      997,987 
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs     5,187,336      4,640,928 
Loss on disposal of intangible assets     116,667      46,212 
Deferred income taxes     2,737,974      (5,660,452)
Loss on disposal of property and equipment     -      24,450 
Changes in assets and liabilities              

Accounts receivable     273,719      703,848 
Lease payments receivable     527,946      123,231 
Inventory     (590,578)     539,811 
Other assets     (5,863,077)     (7,099,262)
Accounts payable     (183,184)     439,893 
Reserve for chargebacks and merchant loss     440,308      134,023 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities     95,605      7,884,094 
Income taxes payable     (377,115)     (842,285)
Deferred revenue     710,202      (554,579)
Funds held/owed to merchants     (135,242)     (1,380,961)

Net cash provided by operating activities     35,339,067      28,291,271 
Cash flows from investing activities              
Purchases of property and equipment     (5,860,986)     (11,967,814)
Purchase and conversion of agent residuals     (37,027)     (73,481)
Agent exclusivity agreements     (944,659)     (209,130)
Additions to notes receivable     -      (250,000)
Repayments of notes receivable     208,333      384,228 

Net cash used in investing activities     (6,634,339)     (12,116,197)
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
    Years Ended December 31,  

    2020     2019  
Cash flows from financing activities              
Proceeds under previous revolving credit facility     -      1,500,000 
Payments on previous revolving credit facility     -      (1,500,000)
Proceeds under new revolving credit facility     12,000,000      - 
Payments on new revolving credit facility     (12,000,000)     - 
Proceeds from new term loan, net of original issue discount     272,250,000      - 
Payments on previous term loan first lien     (189,000,000)     (15,500,000)
Payments on previous term loan second lien     (80,000,000)     - 
Payments on new term loan     (23,937,500)     - 
Debt issuance costs     (4,048,241)     - 
Settlement of stock options     (543,391)     - 
Repurchase of common stock     (423,140)     - 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, Class A     -      127,232 
Common stock dividends paid, Class B     (18,075)     (9,168)
Additions to shareholder notes receivable     (54,365)     (182,666)
Repayments of shareholder notes receivable     169,551      - 

Net cash used in financing activities     (25,605,161)     (15,564,602)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     3,099,567      610,472 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash              
Beginning of year     8,838,799      8,228,327 
End of year   $ 11,938,366    $ 8,838,799 
Supplemental cash flow information              
Cash paid for interest   $ 19,547,824    $ 21,023,419 
Cash paid for income taxes, net     27,131      8,373,335 
Noncash purchases of property and equipment     288,749      206,630 
Noncash accrued dividend on redeemable preferred stock     2,021,674      1,796,231 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 1. Description of Business

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) markets and services electronic credit card authorization and payment systems to merchants, including sale and leasing of related
equipment. The Company provides a full range of payment processing services to small and medium-sized retail and service
businesses throughout the United States including nonprofit organizations worldwide. These services include credit card, debit card and electronic benefit transaction
processing; check guarantee and conversion; point-of-sale (“POS”) equipment leasing; internet transaction processing and reporting; automated teller machines
(“ATM”) ownership and processing; and gift card processing and reporting.

 
Applepoint FAPS Holdings LP (“Parent”) and JSUE Holdings LLC (“Sub”) were formed by two private equity sponsors to acquire FAPS Holdings, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed on August 18, 2014, through the merger of the Parent, the Sub and FAPS Holdings, Inc., with FAPS
Holdings, Inc. continuing as the surviving entity following the Acquisition.

 
Liquidity and Credit Risk

 
The Company believes that its cash balances, cash flow generated from operations, and borrowing capacity under the revolving credit facility will be sufficient to
provide for the Company’s liquidity needs over the next several years and anticipates meeting the financial covenant requirements of its long-term debt.

 
The Company’s long-term liquidity needs will consist of working capital and capital expenditure requirements, the funding of any future acquisitions, and the repayment
of borrowings of outstanding indebtedness. The Company intends to fund these long-term liquidity needs from the cash generated from operations, available borrowings
under the revolving credit facility and, if necessary, future debt or equity financing. However, the ability to generate cash or raise additional capital is subject to the
Company’s performance, general economic conditions, industry trends, and other factors. Many of these factors are beyond the Company’s control or current ability to
anticipate.

 
Global Pandemic

 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) a pandemic. As a result of the pandemic, during 2020, the ongoing outbreak has
and may continue to adversely impact portions of the Company’s merchant base due to various restrictions imposed by state and local governments limiting the extent
to which merchants can operate their businesses. Such limitations on the Company’s merchant base could have an adverse impact on processing volumes for which a
significant portion of the Company’s revenue is derived. While the widespread distribution of vaccines and lifting of restrictions by certain state and local governments
has resulted in signs of economic recovery, the extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s operational and financial performance will depend on certain
developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, potential virus resurgences in certain areas, regulatory decisions, and the impact on the financial
markets, all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. These factors could ultimately affect the recoverability of assets, long-lived assets and goodwill, however,
these consolidated financial statements reflect the effects of COVID-19 based on management's estimates and assumptions utilizing the most currently available
information.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 
Principles of Consolidation
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of FAPS Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.

 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires the use of management
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. These estimates are based on historical experience and information that is available to management about
current events and actions the Company may take in the future. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the carrying value and useful lives of
long- lived assets, deferred income taxes, and stock options. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

 
ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)

 
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“ASC 606”). ASC 606 supersedes
the revenue recognition requirements in Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 605, Revenue Recognition (“ASC 605”). The new revenue recognition standard
provides a five-step analysis of transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized, based upon the core principle that revenue is recognized to show the
transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The new standard also requires additional disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with
customers.

 
The Company adopted ASC 606 as well as ASC Subtopic 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Costs - Contracts with Customers (“ASC 340-40”) on January 1, 2019.
The Company elected the modified retrospective transition method, which resulted in a net increase to retained earnings of $1,633,876 for the cumulative effect of
applying the standard. The components of the cumulative effect adjustment were changes in the accounting for certain costs to obtain customer contracts and the related
income tax effects, which resulted in increases to noncurrent other assets and deferred tax liabilities of $2,010,116 and $376,240, respectively. Specifically, prior to the
adoption of ASC 606 and ASC 340-40, the Company deferred certain contract acquisition costs that were both direct and incremental and treated all other costs as
period expenses. Under ASC 606 and ASC 340-40, the Company now defers substantially all incremental costs incurred in obtaining a customer contract and amortizes
these costs over the expected period of benefit that reflects the transfer of the goods or services to the customer.

 
Prior to the adoption of ASC 606, the Company presented interchange fees charged by card issuing financial institutions and assessment fees charged by credit
card networks within interchange and as a component of other costs of service, respectively. Under ASC 606, the Company now presents revenues net of these
fees.

 
The adoption of ASC 606 did not have any effects on the Company’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2019, or on
any other line items in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019, other than for the cumulative effect adjustment and presentation changes described
above. Furthermore, the adoption of ASC 606 had no effect on the Company’s cash flows from operating activities, investing activities or financing activities
included in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

ASU 2018-15, Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract
 

In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-15, Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. The standard aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service
contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. The accounting for the service element of a
hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the new standard. The Company adopted ASU 2018-15 on January 1, 2020. The Company elected the
prospective transition method, which requires that eligible costs incurred on or after the date of adoption be capitalized and recognized over the term of the hosting
arrangement. The adoption of ASU 2018-15 did not have any material effects on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 
Assets and liabilities are carried at fair value and are categorized based on the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. The standard
establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into the following three levels:

 
Level 1 Inputs are unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

 
Level 2 Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level 1) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability through correlation with market data
at the measurement date for the duration of the instrument’s anticipated life.

 
Level 3 Inputs are unobservable and therefore reflect management’s best estimate of the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability.

 
Management believes the carrying amounts of financial instruments at December 31, 2020 and 2019, including cash and cash equivalents, funds held for merchants,
accounts receivable, expected merchant funds, funds owed to merchants, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to their short maturities. As
the revolving credit facility has a variable rate interest that approximates current market rates for similar financial instruments, management believes the carrying
amount approximates fair value as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

 
Revenue Recognition

 
The Company generates a majority of its revenue through payment processing services, but also generates additional revenue through equipment sales, leasing-related
revenue and revenue from software contracts. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 606. Pursuant to ASC 606, at contract inception, the Company performs
an evaluation to determine the goods and services promised in its contracts with customers. The Company then reviews the contract to identify a performance
obligation for each promise to transfer to the customer a distinct good or service. Revenue is recognized when the identified performance obligation pursuant to the
contract is satisfied and is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring the goods or providing services.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

The nature, timing, amount, and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows depend upon a number of factors, such as demand and price of services provided, the
technological competitiveness of the Company’s offerings, the Company’s reputation for providing timely and reliable service, competition within the industry and
general economic conditions.

 
Payment Processing

 
The Company’s payment processing services offered to customers represents a promise to stand-ready to process transactions, as required by the customer, on a daily
basis over the contractual term. As the timing and quantity of transactions to be processed by the Company is not determinable at contract inception, the obligation
within this arrangement is to stand-ready to process customer transactions as they arise. Under a stand-ready obligation, the evaluation of the nature of the Company’s
performance obligation is focused on each time increment rather than the underlying activities. Therefore, the Company concluded that its payment processing services
comprise a series of distinct days of service that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the customer. Accordingly, the promise to stand-
ready is accounted for as a single-series performance obligation, whereby the variability of the transaction value is satisfied daily as the performance obligation is
completed.

 
The majority of the Company’s payment processing services are priced as either a percentage of transaction value, a specified fee per transaction, a fixed fee, or a
combination. As the nature of the performance obligation is under a stand-ready arrangement, whereby the amount of daily processing activity is unknown until it
transpires, total consideration is variable in nature. The variability is satisfied each day the services are provided to the customer, therefore the Company measures
variable fees on a daily basis and ascribes these fees to the distinct day of service to which the fee relates.

 
For customer contracts with multiple promises that include payment processing services,

 
the Company performs an evaluation to determine whether each promise represents a separate performance obligation. Once the Company determines the performance
obligations and the transaction price, including an estimate of any variable consideration, then the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation in the
contract using a relative standalone selling price method. The Company determines standalone selling price based on the price at which the good or service is sold
separately. If the standalone selling price is not observable through past transactions, the Company estimates the standalone selling price by considering all reasonably
available information, including market conditions, trends or other company or customer-specific factors.

 
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, all revenue from payment processing services, which constitutes a majority of the Company’s revenue, is satisfied
over time.

 
Interchange and Assessment Fees

 
Interchange and assessment fees are charged by the card issuing financial institutions and credit card networks and are directly related to payment processing services.
With respect to interchange and assessment fees, the Company evaluated whether it is the principal or the agent in the arrangement. The Company determined that
interchange and assessment fees are not provided in return or exchange for services that the Company controls or acts as the principal, and, therefore, are not part of the
consideration paid for its services. Upon adoption of ASC 606, the Company concludes they are the agent and presents revenue net of interchange and assessment fees
charged by card issuing financial institutions and credit card networks, respectively. In reaching this determination, the Company considered a number of factors
including indicators of control such as the party primarily responsible and the party who has discretion in establishing prices.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

Products and Other Services
 

The Company’s products and other services include equipment sales, leasing-related revenue, and revenue from software contracts such as software licensing,
maintenance arrangements and setup fees. Revenue from products and other services is recognized at a point in time or over time depending on the nature of the
performance obligation identified. Equipment sales are recognized at a point in time at its standalone selling price when the customer obtains control of the equipment.
Leasing activities, depending on the nature of the performance obligation, is either recognized at a point in time or over time at its standalone selling price. Revenue
from software contracts such as licensing, maintenance arrangements and setup fees are generally satisfied over time and recognized in a manner which reflects the
transfer of the service to the customer, which the Company has determined to be on a straight-line basis over the contractual term.

 
Disaggregation of Revenue

 
The following table presents disaggregated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

 
    Years Ended December 31,  
    2020     2019  
Payment processing services     279,688,807      290,778,558 
Equipment sales     3,260,820      2,713,754 
Leasing-related revenue     3,195,522      4,570,047 
Software contracts     2,177,039      1,984,227 

Total Revenues   $ 288,322,188    $ 300,046,586 
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019

 
Contract Acquisition Costs

 
Upon adoption of ASC 340-40, the Company defers substantially all incremental costs incurred in obtaining a contract with a customer if it expects to recover the costs,
unless the expected period of benefit is one year or less and then the Company recognizes the cost as an expense when incurred. These deferred contract acquisition
costs are amortized on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of transfer to the customer of the services to which the contract acquisition cost relates over the
expected period of benefit. Based on an evaluation of several factors, including customer attrition rates, estimated customer life and expected contract renewals, the
Company determined the amortization periods for its contract acquisition costs, using the portfolio approach, range from 23 to 38 months. The costs are amortized over
the amortization period using the straight-line method, as the Company concluded that the transfer of services over this period is materially consistent over time with
limited predictable volatility. The Company evaluates contract costs for impairment by comparing, using the portfolio approach, the expected future net cash flows from
underlying customer relationships to the carrying amount of the deferred contract acquisition costs. No impairment was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2020
and December 31, 2019. The Company had net deferred contract acquisition costs at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 of $8,008,707 and $6,770,680,
respectively, which are included in noncurrent other assets. Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was
$5,187,336 and $4,640,928, respectively.

 
Contract Assets and Liabilities

 
The Company’s contract assets represent its right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that it has already transferred to its customers. As the Company’s
right to the consideration is entirely unconditional for all of its goods or services transferred to the customer as of the end of the period, all contract assets are classified
as receivables. These receivables are primarily comprised of amounts due from the Company’s processing bank and third-party processors which represent the discount
rate and fees earned on transactions processed during the month ending on the balance sheet date. Such balances are received from the processing bank in
approximately six days and from third-party processors in approximately thirty days following the end of each month. Contract receivables, net of allowance for
doubtful accounts, at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $22,605,817 and $22,881,642, respectively.

 
The Company’s contract liabilities represent its obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received consideration. Contract
liabilities at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $4,301,554 and $3,591,352, respectively. Revenue recognized for the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019 from contract liability balances at the beginning of each period was $3,591,352 and $4,145,931, respectively.

 
Other Costs of Service

 
Other costs of service include costs directly attributable to credit, debit and ATM payment processing services including third-party processing costs, and other related
services such as residual payments to Independent Sales Organizations (“ISO”), residual commission payments to employees, fees payable to debit card networks,
third-party management compliance fees, lease funding expenses, losses due to credit and leasing merchant defaults, contract acquisition costs and other
miscellaneous supplies and services expense.

 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash, but may also include short-term, highly liquid cash investments having original maturity dates of three months or
less. All excess cash not needed for normal operations is used to reduce debt or held to fund future investments. The Company maintains cash at financial institutions
in excess of federally insured limits.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

The current portion of restricted cash consists of certain merchant funds that are settled within three business days and restricted cash consists of merchant
reserves.

 
    2020     2019  

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 8,478,873    $ 6,783,371 
Current portion of restricted cash     232,373      378,745 
Restricted cash     3,227,120      1,676,683 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash presented in the statements of cash flows   $ 11,938,366    $ 8,838,799 

 
Funds Held for Merchants

 
Funds held for merchants represents cash received by the Company from credit card networks and internet transaction processing which the Company collects on behalf
of certain merchants. Upon receiving the cash, the Company recognizes an offsetting liability reflected as funds owed to merchants until the funds are settled with the
merchants. The cash is settled to merchants within three to five business days.

 
Expected Merchant Funds

 
The expected merchant funds represent amounts due to the Company from credit card networks which the Company collects on behalf of certain merchants. Upon
recording the expected funds, the Company recognizes an offsetting liability reflected as funds owed to merchants until the funds are settled with the merchants.

 
Leases

 
The Company provides noncancelable sales-type leases to certain customers. Unearned income from these leases is the difference between the revenue recognized on
each of the leases, which includes the present value of future minimum lease payments and an estimated residual value, and the total of the future lease payments.

 
Amortization of unearned income is recorded using the effective interest method. The Company’s investment in leases is reduced by the allowance for lease payments
that are expected to be uncollectible. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical trends, specific customer identification, and
other information.

 
The Company provides noncancelable operating leases to certain customers. Operating leases recognize rental income upon collection of monthly rental payments.
When the lease is executed, an initial direct cost is incurred and recorded in other assets and amortized over the life of the lease. Additionally, the equipment is
recorded and depreciated over the life of the lease. Accumulated depreciation related to the equipment was $211,568 and $252,730 at December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

Future minimum rental receipts under these noncancelable operating leases are as follows:
 

2021   $ 278,810 
2022     224,068 
2023     176,320 
2024     108,231 
2025     37,885 
    $ 825,314 
 
Inventory

 
Inventory consists of credit card authorization equipment and is stated at the lower of cost or market, with cost being determined by the weighted average cost method.
Inventory balances are net of reserve allowances of $214,979 and $125,857 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
Notes Receivable

 
Notes receivable consist of loans made to certain ISOs. The majority of the loans bear interest at the prime rate plus an applicable margin of 5% to 6.75% with an
interest rate of 10% at July 6, 2020, which is the date the last loan was paid in full, and an interest rate equal to 11.5% at December 31, 2019. The loans are
collateralized primarily by the ISOs’ assets, including the rights they have to receive residuals.

 
Property and Equipment

 
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful life of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the lease term. When property and
equipment are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is recognized in other income or
expense.

 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

 
The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate, in management’s judgment, that the carrying value of
such assets may not be recoverable. The determination of whether an impairment has occurred is based on management’s estimate of undiscounted future cash flows
over the remaining estimated useful life of the asset group as compared to the net carrying value of the asset group. In the event that long-lived asset groups are found to
be carried at amounts which are in excess of estimated future cash flows, the asset group is adjusted for impairment to a level commensurate with the fair value of the
underlying asset groups. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2020 and impairment expense of $36,000 was recorded for the year ended
December 31, 2019.

 
Capitalized Computer Software Costs

 
Capitalized computer software costs consist of costs to purchase, license and develop software. The Company capitalizes internally developed software based on a
project-by-project analysis of each project’s significance to the Company and its estimated useful life. Unamortized computer software cost included in property and
equipment was $19,704,982 and $18,370,302 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. All capitalized software costs are amortized over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Amortization expense related to capitalized computer software costs was $4,487,661 and $4,223,425 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
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Other Assets

 
Other assets are comprised of deferred contract acquisition costs, initial direct costs for noncancelable operating leases and residual assets for noncancelable sales-type
leases. Deferred contract acquisition costs are expensed over the expected period of benefit. Initial direct costs are capitalized and amortized over the term of the
noncancelable operating lease. Residual assets are recorded at the inception of each noncancelable sales-type lease for the estimated future value of the equipment at the
end of the lease term.

 
Intangible Assets

 
The Company’s amortizable intangible assets are comprised of merchant relationships, partner relationships, technology, trade names, agent exclusivity agreements, and
merchant portfolio agent residuals. Merchant relationships and partner relationships are being amortized over the future economic benefit ranging from approximately
five to fourteen years. Amortization expense recognized during each period for these intangibles is calculated based on the expected cash flows realized during the
period as a percentage of total expected cash flows, as used in determining the acquisition-date fair value of these intangibles, multiplied by the initial acquisition-date
fair value of each respective intangible asset. Technology is amortized on a straight-line basis over twelve years. The trade names are being amortized on a straight-line
basis over eleven years. The agent exclusivity agreements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement ranging from two to five years. Merchant
portfolio agent residuals are obtained through lump sum payments to ISOs for the acquisition of the ISOs’ residuals and are recorded at cost. The merchant portfolio
agent residuals are being amortized based on a weighted average attrition method over their estimated useful lives of five years.

 
Goodwill

 
Purchase price in excess of the fair value of tangible and other intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are recorded as goodwill.
The Company performs its annual goodwill impairment test as of December 31, or whenever events or changes in circumstances occur, indicating the carrying value of
its assets may not be fully recoverable. The Company has the option of performing a qualitative assessment of impairment on its reporting unit to determine whether
any further quantitative assessment for impairment is necessary. The option whether to perform a qualitative assessment on its reporting unit is made annually. Factors
considered in the qualitative assessment include general macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, overall financial performance of the
reporting unit, events or changes affecting the composition or carrying amount of the net assets, sustained decrease in its share price, and other relevant entity-specific
events. If the Company elects to bypass the qualitative assessment or if it is determined, on the basis of qualitative factors, that the fair value is more likely than not less
than the carrying amount, a quantitative test would be required. The Company elected to perform a qualitative assessment of impairment on its single reporting unit. It
was determined on the basis of qualitative factors that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the Company exceeds its carrying value. There were no impairment
charges recorded for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

 
Funds Owed to Merchants

 
Funds owed to merchants represent amounts owed to certain merchants for cash received by the Company from credit card networks and internet transaction
processing and are recorded in funds held for merchants. In addition, funds owed to merchants includes outstanding amounts due from credit card networks and are
reflected in expected merchant funds.
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Reserve for Chargebacks and Merchant Loss

 
Disputes between a cardholder and a merchant periodically arise as a result of cardholder dissatisfaction with the merchandise quality or merchant services and the
disputes may not be resolved in the merchant’s favor. In these cases, the transaction is “charged-back” to the merchant by the Company and the purchase price is
refunded to the card issuer for the cardholder. If the merchant is unable to refund the chargeback, the Company or, under limited circumstances, the Company and the
processing bank, must bear the credit risk for the full amount of the transaction. The Company evaluates its risks and estimates its potential for losses from chargebacks
based on historical experience. A provision for estimated losses is provided in the same period as the related revenues. Such losses have not historically exceeded the
Company’s expectations.

 
The processing bank holds certain merchant funds pending supporting documentation. In the event the merchant does not provide the requested documentation in
accordance with the terms of the merchant agreement, or the card issuer does not request funds by properly filing a chargeback in accordance with applicable card
association rules, the Company records these funds as operating cash with a corresponding reduction to the provision for estimated losses from chargebacks. The
Company recorded $2,085,213 and $1,903,746 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
Health Self-Insurance Plan

 
The Company elected to establish an ERISA health and welfare benefit plan for the period from June 1, 2018 to May 31, 2019 and has continued to renew the plan each
year. The plan is partially self-insured up to specified limits for medical and pharmacy benefits covered under the plan. The plan is protected with a specific stop loss
policy per claimant and an aggregate stop loss policy. The Company’s policy is to establish incurred, but not reported, claim reserves with the assistance of third-party
experts using actuarial techniques based upon a number of factors. These factors include, but are not limited to, known claims, estimated incurred but not reported
claims, past experience of claims, historical information and certain assumptions about future events. Any adjustments resulting from the reserve analysis are reflected
in current operations. The Company recorded accrued liabilities for the partially self-funded plan on an undiscounted basis of $975,412 and $1,160,289 for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which is included in accrued expenses and other liabilities.

 
Income Taxes

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded to reflect the future tax consequences attributable to the effects of differences between the carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities for financial reporting and their respective amounts used for income tax purposes. These tax effects are measured based on provisions of enacted tax
laws. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized.

 
If interest or penalties are paid related to income taxes, they are recorded as tax expense. Interest and penalties paid during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
were immaterial. The years ended 2017, 2018 and 2019 remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service.

 
Share-Based Compensation

 
Share-based compensation expense is recognized as an operating expense for all stock option awards granted based on the grant date fair value. The resulting
compensation expense is recognized on a straight line basis over the requisite service period. Compensation expense is recognized only for those options expected to
vest, with forfeitures estimated based on historical experience and future expectations. See Note 9 “Employee Stock Option Plan” for further discussion.
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Advertising Costs
 

Advertising costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses were $483,151 and $644,200 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

 
Foreign Currency

 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in United States dollars as this is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Company operates, and the majority of the Company’s revenue is received and expenses are disbursed in United States dollars. The functional currency of the
Company’s foreign operations is also the United States dollar. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions for monetary items or historical rates for nonmonetary assets. The unsettled balances on foreign currency receivables and liabilities are valued at the rates of
exchange prevailing at year end. Foreign exchange gains and losses are recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and were $4,449 in realized
losses and $20,889 in unrealized gains during 2020. During 2019, realized gains were $16,607 and unrealized gains were $26,874.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance regarding lease accounting. The update includes a lessee accounting model with two types of leases: finance leases
and operating leases. The guidance requires that most leases be recognized on the balance sheet as a right of use asset with an associated lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee will depend on its classification as a
finance or operating lease. Lessor accounting will remain substantially the same as the current model. The updates to lessor accounting focus on conforming to certain
changes made to the lessee model and the new revenue recognition standard. The guidance requires new disclosures with the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash
flows arising from leases. These disclosures include qualitative and quantitative requirements, providing key information about the leasing arrangements recorded in the
financial statements. The new guidance will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this
guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

 
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standards setting bodies that the Company adopts as of the specified effective
date. Unless otherwise discussed, the Company believes the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective are either not applicable to the Company at
this time or will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements upon adoption.

 
Additional Disclosures Made in Preparation for an SEC Filing

 
Subsequent to the original issuance of the consolidated financial statements and in connection with acquisition of the Company, which is discussed in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements, certain footnote disclosures have been either updated or added in order to conform to the requirements for these consolidated financial
statements to be included in an SEC filing. Specifically, the Company has expanded its disaggregation of revenue and contract liability disclosures within the ‘Revenue
Recognition’ sub-section in Note 2, added an effective tax rate reconciliation in tabular format in Note 8, expanded its disclosures relating to stock-based compensation
in Note 9, and added a redeemable preferred stock rollforward in tabular format in Note 11. Finally, as discussed within the ‘Recently Adopted Accounting
Pronouncements’ sub-section in Note 2, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-15, Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs
Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract, on January 1, 2020.
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    2020     2019  
Lease payments receivable (current)              

Minimum lease payments receivable   $ 1,153,411    $ 1,526,340 
Less:              

Unearned interest     (251,988)     (338,632)
Allowance for losses     (158,283)     (206,407)

Current lease payments receivable, net     743,140      981,301 
Lease payments receivable (noncurrent)              

Minimum lease payments receivable     1,761,844      2,338,798 
Less:              

Unearned interest     (384,914)     (518,883)
Allowance for losses     (241,779)     (316,276)

Noncurrent lease payments receivable, net     1,135,151      1,503,639 
Total lease payments receivable, net   $ 1,878,291    $ 2,484,940 

2021   $ 743,140 
2022     537,849 
2023     373,857 
2024     179,034 
2025     44,411 
    $ 1,878,291 

 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
3. Lease Payments Receivable
 

The Company leases credit card processing equipment under noncancelable sales-type leases. The lease terms range from one to five years, and payments are collected
monthly. The leases are collateralized by the underlying leased asset. The lessee is responsible for the payment of insurance, taxes and maintenance costs related to the
leased equipment.

 
The components of the lease payments receivable are as follows at December 31:

 

 
At December 31, 2020, minimum lease payments receivable are due as follows:
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    Useful life              
    range (years)     2020     2019  

Office furniture     12     $ 2,388,362    $ 2,345,636 
Computers, equipment and software     4-15       45,673,850      39,515,288 
Leasehold improvements     1-12       9,961,778      9,954,938 
Construction-in-progress             3,308,646      3,367,039 
              61,332,636      55,182,901 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization             (29,635,498)     (22,853,119)

Property and equipment, net           $ 31,697,138    $ 32,329,782 

    2020     2019  
    Gross     Accumulated     Net     Gross     Accumulated     Net  
    Amount     Amortization     Amount     Amount     Amortization     Amount  

Merchant relationships   $ 107,500,000    $ (87,628,001)   $ 19,871,999    $ 107,500,000    $ (78,363,285)   $ 29,136,715 
Partner relationships     46,000,000      (26,066,709)     19,933,291      46,000,000      (21,989,960)     24,010,040 
Technology     24,000,000      (12,712,813)     11,287,187      24,000,000      (10,712,813)     13,287,187 
Trade names     14,000,000      (8,105,001)     5,894,999      14,000,000      (6,832,000)     7,168,000 
Agent exclusivity agreements     2,371,650      (1,047,685)     1,323,965      3,468,672      (2,230,456)     1,238,216 
Merchant portfolio agent residuals     153,550      (96,035)     57,515      118,768      (61,648)     57,120 
    $ 194,025,200    $ (135,656,244)   $ 58,368,956    $ 195,087,440    $ (120,190,162)   $ 74,897,278 

2021   $ 14,190,925 
2022     12,175,064 
2023     11,562,143 
2024     10,863,330 
2025     5,085,219 
Thereafter     4,492,275 
    $ 58,368,956 

 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
4. Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31:
 

 
Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $6,873,283 and $6,968,159,
respectively.

 
5. Intangible Assets
 

Intangible assets consist of the following at December 31:
 

 
Amortization expense for intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $17,393,340 and $19,596,716, respectively.

 
Estimated amortization expense for intangible assets as of December 31, 2020 for the next five years is as follows:
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    2020     2019  
Previous term loan, first lien   $ -    $ 189,000,000 
Previous term loan, second lien     -      80,000,000 
Previous revolving credit facility     -      - 
New term loan     251,062,500      - 
New revolving credit facility     -      - 
      251,062,500      269,000,000 
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs     5,162,266      3,832,649 
    $ 245,900,234    $ 265,167,351 

2021 $ - 
2022   - 
2023   - 
2024   - 
2025   - 
Thereafter     251,062,500 
    $ 251,062,500 

 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 
6. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Credit Facility
 

Long-term debt and revolving credit facility consist of the following at December 31:
 

 
Maturity requirements on long-term debt as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:

 

 
Previous Term Loan First Lien and Previous Term Loan Second Lien

 
On January 6, 2017, the Company entered into a first lien syndicated loan agreement (the “Previous First Lien”) and a second lien syndicated loan agreement (the
“Previous Second Lien”) with various financial institutions.

 
Previous First Lien

 
The Previous First Lien consists of a $240,000,000 term loan, with an original issue discount of $2,400,000, and a $40,000,000 previous revolving credit facility. All
borrowings under the Previous First Lien bear interest at a Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 4.75% or an Adjusted Eurodollar Rate plus an Applicable Rate of
5.75%. The Base Rate is equal to the greater of prime rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5%, the Adjusted Eurodollar Rate as calculated in respect of a
proposed Eurodollar loan with a one or more month interest period plus 1%, or 1% for the previous revolving credit facility and 2% with respect to the term loan, per
annum. The Adjusted Eurodollar Rate is equal to the greater of LIBOR or 0.0% for the previous revolving credit facility and 1% with respect to the term loan. Quarterly
payments of $600,000 are due on the term loan through December 31, 2023, with the remaining principal due on January 5, 2024. During 2017, the Company made all
the contractually required quarterly payments due through December 31, 2023. Balances on the previous revolving credit facility are due on January 5, 2022.
Additionally, the Company pays a commitment fee on the unused portion of its previous revolving credit facility of 0.5% or .375% based on the Previous First Lien net
leverage ratio. The Previous First Lien may be prepaid at any time. The Previous First Lien also requires additional principal payments based upon annual calculation of
excess cash flow as defined in the agreement. An additional principal payment was not required for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Borrowings under the Previous First Lien are collateralized on a first priority basis by a security interest in substantially all assets of the Company. Under the terms of
the Previous First Lien, the Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain covenants. The Company was in compliance with all of its
financial covenants during 2019 under the Previous First Lien.

 
Previous Second Lien

 
The Previous Second Lien consists of an $80,000,000 term loan, with an original issue discount of $2,400,000. All borrowings under the Previous Second Lien bear
interest at a Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 9.5% or an Adjusted Eurodollar Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 10.5%. The Base Rate is equal to the greater of prime
rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus 0.5%, the Adjusted Eurodollar Rate as calculated in respect of a proposed Eurodollar loan with a one or more month interest
period plus 1%, or 1% per annum. The Adjusted Eurodollar Rate is equal to the greater of LIBOR or 1.0%. As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate for the term loan
was 12.56%. Unpaid principal is due July 5, 2024. The Previous Second Lien may be prepaid at any time. In the event the Previous Second Lien is prepaid between
January 6, 2018, and January 5, 2019, a prepayment penalty of 4% would be incurred. In the event the Previous Second Lien is prepaid between January 6, 2019, and
January 5, 2020, a prepayment penalty of 2% would be incurred. There are no prepayment penalties after January 6, 2020.

 
Borrowings under the Previous Second Lien are collateralized on a second priority basis by a security interest in substantially all assets of the Company subordinated to
the Previous First Lien. Under the terms of the Previous Second Lien, the Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain covenants.
The Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants during 2019 under the Previous Second Lien.

 
Previous First Lien Amendment

 
In February 2018, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Previous First Amendment”) to amend the Previous First Lien effective February 22, 2018, which
effectively repriced the interest rate on the term loan. As of February 22, 2018, the Previous First Lien included a term loan of $215,000,000 and the previous revolving
credit facility. The previous revolving credit facility terms were not amended. The Previous First Lien under the Previous First Amendment bears interest at a Base Rate
plus an Applicable Rate of 3.75%, or an Adjusted Eurodollar Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 4.75%. Other than these changes, the Previous First Amendment has
substantially the same terms, including the maturity date, as the Previous First Lien. The Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants under the
Previous First Amendment for 2019.

 
Previous First Lien Second Amendment

 
In December 2018, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Previous Second Amendment”) to amend the Previous First Lien effective December 18, 2018, which
effectively repriced the interest rate on the previous revolving credit facility. The previous revolving credit facility under the Previous Second Amendment bears interest
at a Base Rate plus 3.75% or an Adjusted Eurodollar Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 4.75%. Other than this change, the Previous Second Amendment has substantially
the same terms, including the maturity date, as the Previous First Lien. The Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants under the Previous Second
Amendment for 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate for the Previous First Lien term loan was 6.81% and the previous revolving credit facility was 8.50%.
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On March 4, 2020, the Company entered into a syndicated loan agreement (the “New Term Loan”) with various financial institutions paying off the Previous First Lien
and the Previous Second Lien.

 
New Term Loan

 
The New Term Loan consists of a $275,000,000 term loan, including an original issue discount of $2,750,000, and a $40,000,000 new revolving credit facility. All
borrowings under the New Term Loan bear interest at a Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 4.0% or 3.75% or an Adjusted LIBO Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 5.0%
or 4.75% for the term loan and new revolving credit facility, respectively. The Base Rate is equal to the greater of prime rate, the NYFRB Rate plus .5%, the Adjusted
LIBO Rate as calculated in respect of a proposed Eurodollar loan based on the LIBO Screen Rate plus 1.0%, or 1%, per annum. After June 30, 2020, all new revolving
credit facility borrowings under the New Term Loan bear interest at a Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 3.75% or 3.5% or an Adjusted LIBO Rate plus an
Applicable Rate of 4.75% or 4.5% based on the New Term Loan leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate for the term loan was 5.23% and the new
revolving credit facility was 7.00%. Quarterly payments of $687,500 are due on the term loan through December 31, 2026, with the remaining principal due on March
4, 2027. During 2020, the Company made all the contractually required quarterly payments due through December 31, 2026. Balances on the new revolving credit
facility are due on March 4, 2025. Additionally, the Company pays a commitment fee on the unused portion of its new revolving credit facility of 0.5% or .375% based
on the New Term Loan net leverage ratio. The New Term Loan may be prepaid at any time. The New Term Loan also requires additional principal payments based upon
annual calculation of excess cash flow as defined in the agreement. An additional principal payment was not required for the year ended December 31, 2020.

 
Borrowings under the New Term Loan are collateralized on a first priority basis by a security interest in substantially all assets of the Company. Under the terms of
the New Term Loan, the Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain covenants. The Company was in compliance with all of its
financial covenants during 2020 under the New Term Loan.

 
In connection with the New Term Loan, the Company incurred fees of $7,470,502 of which $6,798,241 was deferred and recognized as debt issuance costs and
$672,260 was recorded to selling, general and administrative expenses. Deferred debt issuance costs at the time of the event was $4,021,250 of which $762,064 was
recorded as deferred debt issuance costs and the remaining $3,259,187 was recognized as a loss on extinguishment and recorded to interest expense. The debt issuance
costs for the term loan are amortized and netted against the outstanding debt balance and will be amortized over the life of the New Term Loan under the effective
interest method. The debt issuance costs for the new revolving credit facility will be amortized over the life of the new revolving credit facility under the New Term
Loan using the straight-line method. The charge to interest expense related to debt issuance costs was $1,210,874 and $1,191,633 for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
7. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Leases
 

The Company leases office space for its headquarters, operations and sales offices. These leases expire at various times and some of the leases have renewal, escalation
and abatement period clauses. The total amount of the minimum rent is expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases at December 31, 2020 are summarized below:
 

    Operating  
    Leases  
2021   $ 4,682,978 
2022     4,875,588 
2023     4,484,371 
2024     4,383,763 
2025     4,232,190 
Thereafter     11,916,445 
    $ 34,575,335 

 
Rent expense for all operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $4,792,774 and $4,820,990, respectively.

 
Payment Processing Agreements

 
The Company has agreements with several third-party processors to provide payment processing, transmittal, transaction authorization and data capture services, and
access to various reporting tools. These third-party processors include Worldpay, TSYS Acquiring Solutions, First Data Corporation, and Chase Paymentech Solutions.
Agreements with certain third-party processors require the Company to submit a minimum monthly number of transactions or volume for processing. If the Company
submits a number of transactions or volume that is lower than the minimum, the Company is required to pay the processor the fees that they would have received if the
Company had submitted the required minimum transactions or volume. The agreement expiration dates with these third-party processors range from yearly renewal
options to seven years.

 
The future minimum commitments required to be paid at December 31, 2020 are summarized below:

 
2021     $ 1,762,005
2022       1,562,005
2023       1,440,000
2024       1,440,000
2025       1,440,000
Thereafter       2,640,000
      $ 10,284,010

 
Bank Processing Agreement

 
In connection with the Company’s credit card processing services, VISA and MasterCard require merchants accepting VISA and MasterCard credit cards to contract
directly with a processing bank that is a member bank of the VISA and MasterCard associations. The Company is dependent upon the contractual arrangement with its
processing bank to continue to service merchant portfolios. The Company has a contractual right to receive revenue derived from the discount rate and fees earned on
its merchant portfolios, as long as the merchant continues to process transactions on the processing bank’s systems and the Company remains in compliance under its
agreement with the processing bank.

 

24



 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

In accordance with the Company’s contract with its processing bank, all of the funds collected and all disbursement functions are performed on behalf of the Company
by the processing bank. Disbursements for the interchange fee paid to the card issuing financial institutions are made daily.

 
Shortly after each month-end, the processing bank disburses to the Company the remainder of the funds collected from the merchants less the processing bank’s fees
and credit card network fees.

 
Litigation

 
From time to time the Company is involved in certain legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue
for amounts related to these legal proceedings if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable. In the opinion of the Company,
based on consultations with counsel, the results of any of these legal proceedings individually and in the aggregate, are not expected to have a material effect on its
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

 
Severance

 
Certain officers of the Company have entered into employee agreements under which they are entitled to severance pay equal to their base salary for 12 to 24
months in the event they are terminated by the Company other than for cause.

 
Data Breach

 
The Company collects and stores sensitive data about its merchant customers and bank cardholders. If the Company’s network security is breached or sensitive
merchant or cardholder data is misappropriated, the Company could be exposed to assessments, fines or litigation costs.

 
8. Income Taxes
 

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was signed into law making changes to the Internal Revenue Code.
Changes include, but are not limited to, the ability to elect to increase the interest deduction limitation from 30% to 50% of adjusted taxable income for 2019 and 2020,
and temporarily suspends the 80% taxable income limitation to allow net operating losses to fully offset taxable income for years before 2021. The CARES Act also
made a retroactive technical correction that provides a 15-year recovery period for qualified improvement property (“QIP”). In April 2020, the Company qualified for a
$3,213,672 refund of federal taxes due to the CARES Act. The refund was related to additional deductions of $5,158,079 for QIP and $8,206,750 in interest deductions.
The CARES Act provides a payment extension of employer payroll taxes during 2020 after the date of enactment. The Company elected to defer $1,624,332 of employer
payroll taxes otherwise due in 2020 which was extended with 50% due by December 31, 2021 and the remaining 50% by December 31, 2022. Accordingly, payroll tax
deferral liabilities of $812,166 were recorded in accrued expenses and other liabilities and $812,166 were recorded to other long-term liabilities at December 31, 2020.
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    2020     2019  
Current tax provision              
U.S. federal   $ (1,327,874)   $ 4,933,547 
State and local     675,760      1,348,930 
Foreign     5,215      287,000 

Total current tax provision (benefit)     (646,899)     6,569,477 
Deferred tax provision              
U.S. federal     2,325,003      (4,789,841)
State and local     403,949      (871,028)
Foreign     9,022      (6,018)

Total deferred tax provision (benefit)     2,737,974      (5,666,887)
Provision for income taxes   $ 2,091,075    $ 902,590 

    2020     2019  
Deferred tax liability (asset)              
Reserve for chargebacks and merchant loss   $ (101,756)   $ (98,781)
Deferred revenue     (1,022,910)     (854,024)
Debt issuance costs     (57,974)     (702,836)
Vacation accrual     (1,636,304)     (1,342,820)
Accrued liabilities and allowances     (51,480)     (83,713)
Allowance for lease receivables     (144,633)     (183,177)
Deferred rent     (1,208,428)     (1,220,490)
Share-based compensation     (1,002,534)     (941,062)
Intangible assets     11,200,887      14,153,808 
Goodwill     17,170,395      16,494,302 
Deferred contract acquisition costs     1,110,501      989,627 
Tax depreciation in excess of book depreciation     5,573,673      4,220,067 
Interest deduction limitation     (3,448,394)     (6,740,419)
Other     (143,933)     (191,346)

Total deferred tax liability, net   $ 26,237,110    $ 23,499,136 

 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
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The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
 

 
The tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to the total deferred tax liability, net were as follows at December 31:
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    2020     2019  
Pretax Income   $ 5,692,246    $ 1,630,169 
Pretax Income at 21%     21.00%    21.00%
Permanent Differences     0.64%    5.97%
State Taxes, net of federal benefit     14.98%    23.55%
Other     0.11%    4.85%

Effective Tax Rate     36.74%    55.37%

 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
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December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the income tax expense computed is as follows:
 

 
The Company had no carryforward NOL for the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

 
The Company utilizes a recognition threshold and a related measurement model for accounting for its uncertain tax positions. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax
position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities. The Company’s policy is to record any impact to income tax expense.
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were no uncertain tax positions recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

 
9. Employee Stock Option Plan
 

In connection with the Acquisition on August 18, 2014, the Board of Directors approved the 2014 FAPS Holdings, Inc. Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”), which provides
grants of stock options to certain Company employees. A total of 916,464 shares of Class A common stock have been reserved for issuance under the Plan. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, 107,439 and 135,526 options, respectively, of Class A common stock remained available for stock option grants under the Plan.

 
Options issued pursuant to the Plan are granted at an exercise price not less than the fair value of the Company’s Class A common stock at the date of grant. Options vest
in increments of 20% per year over a five year period on the anniversary date of each grant. Options expire ten years from the date of grant. Options not yet vested
terminate when the employee ceases to be employed by the Company. The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $258,502 and $500,848 for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company granted 64,925 options and 42,245 options to employees with a weighted-average grant date fair
value of $9.60 and $6.40, respectively.
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    2020  
Expected life (in years)     7 
Interest rate     1.1%
Volatility     26.7%
Dividend yield     0.0%

          Weighted     Remaining     Aggregate  
    Number of

Shares
    Average

Exercise Price
    Contractual Life

(Years)
    Intrinsic

Value
 

                 
Options outstanding at December 31, 2018     755,591      16.00      5.92      11,605,878 
                             
Options Granted     42,245      20.52               
Options Forfeited     (16,898)     16.00               
Options Exercised     (7,952)     16.00               
                             
Options outstanding at December 31, 2019     772,986      16.25      4.97      11,679,818 
                             
Options Granted     64,925      31.36               
Options Forfeited     (36,838)     21.18               
Options Settled     (35,377)     16.00               
                             
Options outstanding at December 31, 2020     765,696    $ 17.30      4.09      10,765,686 
                             
Options exercisable at December 31, 2020     654,848      16.00      4.16      10,058,468 

 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 

 
The grant date fair value is calculated using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2020, was
calculated using the following estimated weighted average assumptions:

 

 
Risk-free interest rate – The market yield on U.S. Treasury securities for the expected life of each option type is used as the risk-free interest rate.

 
Expected life – The expected term of the options represents the estimated period of time until exercise and is based on historical experience of similar options, giving
consideration to the contractual terms, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee behavior. An election was made in 2018 to adopt the simplified method
of estimating the expected term, which is the midpoint of the vesting period and the contractual term.

 
Expected volatility – The Company’s stock is not publicly traded. Therefore, the calculation of volatility for the Company is based on the historical stock price volatility
of a peer group of similar, publicly traded companies, using adjusted closing monthly stock prices for the expected life of each option type.

 
Expected dividend yield – The Company intends to retain any earnings to finance future growth, and therefore, does not anticipate paying any cash dividends on its
Class A common stock in the foreseeable future.

 
Stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, is detailed as follows:

 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, total unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to the nonvested stock options was $604,109, which will be
recognized over a weighted average period of 3.69 years. The fair value of stock options vested in 2020 and 2019 was $95,012 and $787,567, respectively. The total
number of vested stock options at December 31, 2020, is 654,847 with a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.85 years. There were 35,377 options settled
during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 7,952 options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2019. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised
or settled during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $543,391 and $122,143, respectively.
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10. Retirement Plans
 

The Company formed the First American Payment Systems, L.P. 401(k) Retirement Plan on January 1, 1998. Following the initial enrollment, employees become
eligible for participation in the plan on the quarterly enrollment dates following the employee completing 90 days of employment. The Company contributes an amount
equal to 50% of employee voluntary contributions, which vests to the employee over four years, up to a maximum of 6% of the employee’s annual compensation. The
Company contributed $921,588 and $812,531 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
11. Redeemable Preferred Stock
 

In December 2015, to raise additional capital for subsequent acquisitions, the Board authorized the Company to issue 500,000 shares of preferred stock as one or more
series. The Company designated 100,000 of those authorized shares as 12% Series A Preferred Stock (“Series A”). The Series A shares are not redeemable by their
terms. However, per the stockholders’ agreement, the Company has the right to repurchase any Series A shares held by an employee whose employment with the
Company terminates. The Series A are classified on the balance sheet as mezzanine equity. Each share of Series A has an original issue price of $1,000, and shareholders
of the Series A are not entitled to any voting rights. The Series A ranks senior with respect to dividend payments, redemption payments, and distribution of assets to the
Class A, Class B, and Class C common stock shareholders. Cumulative dividends on the Series A accrue at a rate of 12% per year. The Series A is also convertible at
any time at the option of the shareholder into shares of Class A common stock equal to the original issue price plus all accrued and accumulated dividends on the date of
conversion divided by $16. The Company is required to keep sufficient shares of Class A common stock available for issuance to permit the conversion of the Series A.
Dividends continue to accrue on the Series A until the liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, or the shareholder exercises the conversion feature. The
Company also amended the Employee Stock Plan to permit 1,000 shares of Series A to be issued subject to the Plan terms and conditions as discussed in Note 12
“Shareholders’ Equity”. There were 10,039 shares of Series A outstanding with an aggregate value of $10,039,000 at December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company
accrued a dividend of $2,021,674 and $1,796,231 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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    Series A                    
    Redeemable     Additional           Total  
    Preferred Stock     Paid-in     Accrued     Redeemable  
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Dividends     Preferred Stock  
Balances at December 31, 2018     10,054    $ 100.54    $ 10,053,899    $ 4,272,594    $ 14,326,593 
                                    
Conversion of Preferred Stock     (15)     (0.15)     (15,000)            (15,000)
Accrued Dividends     -      -      -      1,796,231      1,796,231 
Balances at December 31, 2019     10,039      100.39      10,038,900      6,068,825      16,107,824 
                                    
Balances at December 31, 2019     10,039      100.39      10,038,900      6,068,825      16,107,825 
                                    
Conversion of Preferred Stock                   -             - 
Accrued Dividends     -      -      -      2,021,674      2,021,674 
                                    
Balances at December 31, 2020     10,039    $ 100.39    $ 10,038,900    $ 8,090,499    $ 18,129,499 
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Redeemable preferred stock activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is detailed as follows:

 

 
12. Shareholders’ Equity
 

In connection with the Acquisition, a new equity structure was formed comprised of Class A common stock, Class B common stock, and Class C common stock; each
with a par value of $0.01. There were 17,999,998 shares of Class A common stock authorized with 9,939,291 shares outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, 1
share of Class B common stock authorized with 1 share outstanding, and 1 share of Class C common stock authorized with 1 share outstanding, respectively. Each
share of Class A common stock shall be entitled to one vote on each matter to be voted on with 30% of the voting power to elect members of the Board. Class B
common stock shall be entitled to director voting only, with the number of votes being equal to the outstanding number of Class A common shares multiplied by 2.34,
which is 70% of the voting power to elect members of the Board. Class C common stock shall not be entitled to vote on any matter except in the event of an
amendment to the Company’s charter that would adversely affect the rights and preferences of the Class C common shares. Upon this occurrence, approval by the
majority of Class C common shares would be required. The Class B share requires the Company to pay annual aggregate dividends of 10,000 CAD. The Class C share
requires that the Company declare and pay a dividend equal to the aggregate amount of any fee paid under the Management Services Agreement as discussed in Note
13 “Related Party Transactions”, except if prohibited by the Company’s debt agreements which require certain financial ratios and covenants to be met. If declaring the
dividend is prohibited, then an amount equal to such undeclared dividend shall accumulate in arrears and accrue with interest at a rate of 8% per annum. For the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the amount of the undeclared dividend including interest is $3,866,207 and $3,093,438, respectively.
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In the event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of FAPS Holdings, Inc., after the preferred stock shareholders the next priority of distributions is
to the Class C common stock shareholder, but only if and to the extent of any owed but unpaid dividends; then, to the Class B common stock shareholder in the
amount of $0.02 per share; and last, to the Class A common stock shareholders pro rata.

 
In connection with the Acquisition, the Company also established the FAPS Holdings, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“Employee Stock Plan”) which
permits certain employees, officers, and directors of the Company the opportunity to purchase up to 750,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock.
The Employee Stock Plan is intended to incentivize participants to promote the growth and success of the Company. The purchase price of the shares under the
Employee Stock Plan is determined by the Board and must be paid in cash or other property approved by the Board. The Board also reserves the right to
suspend, amend, or terminate the Employee Stock Plan at any time. If not terminated prior, the Employee Stock Plan will terminate on August 19, 2024.

 
13. Related Party Transactions
 

In connection with the Acquisition on August 18, 2014, the Company entered into a Management Services Agreement with an affiliate of an equity investor under
which the affiliate provides to the Company transaction structuring and advisory services in connection with selected aspects of future transactions and such
additional management, financial, strategic planning and financial advisory services reasonably requested by the Company from time to time. The Company paid
$644,526 and $1,050,000 to this affiliate for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
The Company has an ISO who is a family member with a senior executive of the Company. The Company made residual payments to the ISO totaling $3,372,271
and $3,159,588 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
The Company entered into promissory note agreements that are recourse in nature with certain shareholders for payments of personal income taxes related to the
exercise of stock options. The notes bear interest at 2% per annum and are compounded annually on the unpaid balance. The principal plus accrued interest is due and
payable on the earliest of the seventh anniversary of the notes, the date the majority shareholder ceases to own at least 51% of the common stock of the Company, or
the first date on which the borrower is no longer an employee and ceases to own any shares of common stock. The promissory note balance for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $3,222,753 and $3,337,939, respectively.

 
14. Subsequent Events
 

The Company has evaluated events and transactions for recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements through April 20, 2021, the date the
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, and determined there were no subsequent events which required recognition or disclosure.

 
Events Subsequent to Original Issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

 
In connection with the reissuance of the consolidated financial statements, the Company has evaluated subsequent events through July 22, 2021, the date these
consolidated financial statements were available to be reissued. Other than the transaction discussed below, there were no other events or transactions that
required disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
 
Agreement and Plan of Merger

 
On April 21, 2021, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger to be acquired by Deluxe Corporation for total purchase consideration of $960,000,000,
subject to customary closing conditions. The transaction closed on June 1, 2021.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
 
    March 31, 2021     December 31, 2020 
Assets            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 13,287,322    $ 8,478,873 
Current portion of restricted cash     316,889      232,373 
Funds held for merchants     9,882,827      94,295,263 
Accounts receivable, net     26,033,615      22,605,817 
Expected merchant funds     456,307      2,993,240 
Current portion of lease payments receivable, net     559,928      743,140 
Inventory, net     1,343,392      1,680,931 
Other current assets     3,360,594      3,679,044 

Total current assets     55,240,874      134,708,681 
Restricted cash     3,730,285      3,227,120 
Lease payments receivable, net     1,296,490      1,135,151 
Property and equipment, net     32,537,255      31,697,138 
Other assets     9,770,632      9,692,889 
Intangible assets, net     55,283,892      58,368,956 
Goodwill     343,945,227      343,945,227 

Total assets   $ 501,804,655    $ 582,775,162 
Liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and shareholders' equity              
Liabilities              

Funds owed to merchants   $ 10,656,022    $ 97,520,876 
Accounts payable     2,839,803      2,760,103 
Income taxes payable     1,785,558      620,060 
Reserve for chargebacks and merchant loss     426,933      427,908 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities     40,492,883      40,639,058 
Deferred revenue     4,424,609      4,301,554 

Total current liabilities     60,625,808      146,269,559 
Other long-term liabilities     4,493,276      4,028,585 
Deferred tax liability, net     26,505,444      26,237,110 
Long-term debt obligations     246,106,724      245,900,234 

Total liabilities     337,731,252      422,435,488 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)              
               
Redeemable preferred stock, 12% series A, $.01 par value, 100,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020;

10,003 and 10,039 outstanding at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively     18,608,364      18,129,498 
Shareholders’ equity              

Class C common stock, $.01 par value, 1 share authorized              
and outstanding at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020     .01      .01 
Class B common stock, $.01 par value, 1 share authorized              
and outstanding at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020     .01      .01 
Class A common stock, $.01 par value, 17,999,998 shares authorized;              
 9,951,208 and 9,939,291 outstanding at March 31, 2021              
 and December 31, 2020, respectively     99,512      99,393 
Treasury stock, at cost, 80,435 and 48,084 shares at              
March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively     (1,991,123)     (976,596)
Additional paid-in capital     151,520,522      152,105,671 
Shareholder notes receivable     (3,177,353)     (3,222,753)
Accumulated deficit     (986,519)     (5,795,539)

Total shareholders’ equity     145,465,039      142,210,176 
Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and shareholders' equity   $ 501,804,655    $ 582,775,162 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Unaudited) 

 
    Three Months Ended  

  March 31, 2021     March 31, 2020  
Revenue   $ 76,840,540    $ 73,375,564 
Operating expenses              

Other costs of service     44,612,118      42,249,065 
Selling, general and administrative expenses     16,834,392      19,701,053 
Depreciation and amortization     5,279,885      6,079,256 

      66,726,395      68,029,374 
Income from operations     10,114,145      5,346,190 

Interest expense     3,708,402      8,817,730 
Other (income) expense     (10,140)     58,273 

Income (loss) before income taxes     6,415,883      (3,529,813)
Provision for income taxes     1,606,863      127,511 

Net income (loss)     4,809,020      (3,657,324)
Other comprehensive income     -      - 

Comprehensive income (loss)   $ 4,809,020    $ (3,657,324)
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Unaudited) 

    Class C     Class B     Class A                       Shareholder     Accumulated    Total  
    Common Stock     Common Stock     Common Stock     Treasury Stock     Additional     Notes     Earnings     Shareholders' 
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Paid-in Capital    Receivable     (Deficit)     Equity  
Balances at December 31, 2019     1    $ 0.01      1    $ 0.01      9,939,291    $ 99,393      (34,591)   $ (553,456)   $ 154,430,309    $ (3,337,939)   $ (9,396,710)   $ 141,241,597 
Share-based compensation                                                             40,500                    40,500 
Repurchase of common stock                                               (7,952)     (249,375)                          (249,375)
Settlement of stock options                                                             (268,569)                   (268,569)
Shareholder notes receivable, net                                                                    114,761             114,761 
Common stock dividend - Class B                                                             (9,127)                   (9,127)
Preferred stock dividend - 12% Series A                                                            (483,235)                   (483,235)
 Net income                                                                           (3,657,324)     (3,657,324)
Balances at March 31, 2020     1    $ 0.01      1    $ 0.01      9,939,291    $ 99,393      (42,543)   $ (802,831)   $ 153,709,878    $ (3,223,178)   $ (13,054,034)   $ 136,729,228 
                                                                                     
                                                                                     
Balances at December 31, 2020     1      0.01      1      0.01      9,939,291      99,393      (48,084)     (976,596)     152,105,671      (3,222,753)     (5,795,539)     142,210,176 
Issuance of common stock                                 11,917      119                    313,009                    313,128 
Share-based compensation                                                             60,000                    60,000 
Repurchase of common stock                                               (32,351)     (1,014,527)                          (1,014,527)
Settlement of stock options                                                             (396,964)                   (396,964)
Shareholder notes receivable, net                                                                    45,400             45,400 
Common stock dividend - Class B                                                             (19,203)                   (19,203)
Preferred stock dividend - 12% Series A                                                            (541,991)                   (541,991)
 Net income                                                                           4,809,020      4,809,020 
Balances at March 31, 2021     1    $ 0.01      1    $ 0.01      9,951,208    $ 99,512      (80,435)   $ (1,991,123)   $ 151,520,522    $ (3,177,353)   $ (986,519)   $ 145,465,039 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
 
    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2021     March 31, 2020  
Cash flows from operating activities              
Net income (loss)   $ 4,809,020    $ (3,657,324)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by              
 operating activities              

Share-based compensation expense     60,000      40,500 
Loss on extinguishment of debt     -      3,259,187 
Unrealized foreign currency exchange (gain) loss     (13,589)     65,278 
Provision for lease allowance, merchant loss,              
 and accounts receivable     (352,408)     (168,207)
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment     1,680,093      1,615,629 
Amortization of intangible assets     3,569,130      4,429,025 
Amortization of initial direct costs     30,662      34,601 
Amortization of loan costs, revolver     152,472      54,983 
Amortization of debt issuance costs, term notes     206,491      249,572 
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs     1,447,443      1,281,499 
Deferred income taxes     268,334      4,285,819 
Changes in assets and liabilities              

Accounts receivable     (3,427,666)     1,307,204 
Lease payments receivable     68,182      80,525 
Inventory     337,539      (367,371)
Other assets     (1,378,373)     (1,147,160)
Accounts payable     (1,141,303)     (75,249)
Reserve for chargebacks and merchant loss     271,025      278,391 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities     314,810      (6,250,478)
Income taxes payable     1,165,498      (4,270,057)
Deferred revenue     123,055      121,831 
Funds held/owed to merchants     101,665      636,121 

Net cash provided by operating activities     8,292,080      1,804,319 
Cash flows from investing activities              
Purchases of property and equipment     (1,276,592)     (1,289,026)
Purchase and conversion of agent residuals     (243,000)     (35,398)
Agent exclusivity agreements     (241,066)     85,342 
Repayments of notes receivable     -      31,250 

Net cash used in investing activities     (1,760,658)     (1,207,832)
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
 
    Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2021     March 31, 2020  
Cash flows from financing activities              
Proceeds from new term loan, net of original issue discount     -      272,250,000 
Payments on previous term loan first lien     -      (189,000,000)
Payments on previous term loan second lien     -      (80,000,000)
Debt issuance costs     -      (4,048,241)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, Class A     313,128      - 
Repurchase of common stock     (1,014,527)     (249,375)
Settlement of stock options     (396,964)     (268,569)
Repurchase of preferred stock     (63,126)     - 
Common stock dividends paid, Class B     (19,203)     (9,127)
Additions to shareholder notes receivable     (13,021)     (13,913)
Repayments of shareholder notes receivable     58,421      128,675 

Net cash used in financing activities     (1,135,292)     (1,210,550)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     5,396,130      (614,063)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash              
Beginning of year     11,938,366      8,838,799 
End of year   $ 17,334,496    $ 8,224,736 
Supplemental cash flow information              
Cash paid for interest   $ 3,394,418    $ 9,570,973 
Cash paid for income taxes, net     184,238      282,343 
Noncash purchases of property and equipment     1,221,003      130,016 
Noncash accrued dividend on redeemable preferred stock     541,991      483,235 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
 
1. Description of Business
 

FAPS Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) markets and services electronic credit card authorization and payment systems to merchants, including sale and leasing of related
equipment. The Company provides a full range of payment processing services to small and medium-sized retail and service businesses throughout the United States
including nonprofit organizations worldwide. These services include credit card, debit card and electronic benefit transaction processing; check guarantee and
conversion; point-of-sale (“POS”) equipment leasing; internet transaction processing and reporting; automated teller machines (“ATM”) ownership and processing; and
gift card processing and reporting.
 
Global Pandemic
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) a pandemic. As a result of the pandemic, during 2020 and continuing into 2021,
the ongoing outbreak has and may continue to adversely impact portions of the Company’s merchant base due to various restrictions imposed by state and local
governments limiting the extent to which merchants can operate their businesses. Such limitations on the Company’s merchant base could have an adverse impact on
processing volumes for which a significant portion of the Company’s revenue is derived. While the widespread distribution of vaccines and lifting of restrictions by
certain state and local governments has resulted in signs of economic recovery, the extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s operational and financial
performance will depend on certain developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, potential virus resurgences in certain areas, regulatory decisions,
and the impact on the financial markets, all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. These factors could ultimately affect the recoverability of assets, long-lived
assets and goodwill, however, these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect the effects of COVID-19 based on management's estimates and
assumptions utilizing the most currently available information.

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Accounting Principles
 
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America (“U.S. GAAP”) and on the same basis as the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. Certain
information and disclosures included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules
and regulations. In the opinion of management, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring
adjustments, estimates, and management judgments necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s interim financial information for the periods presented. The results
reported in the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for any future interim or annual period. The
accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
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    March 31, 2021     December 31, 2020  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 13,287,322    $ 8,478,873 
Current portion of restricted cash     316,889      232,373 
Restricted cash     3,730,285      3,227,120 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $ 17,334,496    $ 11,938,366 

 

 
FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

 
Principles of Consolidation
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of FAPS Holdings, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and
balances are eliminated in consolidation.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires the use of management
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. These estimates are based on historical experience and information that is available to management about
current events and actions the Company may take in the future. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the carrying value and useful lives of
long- lived assets, deferred income taxes, and stock options. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash, but may also include short-term, highly liquid cash investments having original maturity dates of three months or
less. All excess cash not needed for normal operations is used to reduce debt or held to fund future investments. The Company maintains cash at financial institutions in
excess of federally insured limits.
 
The current portion of restricted cash consists of certain merchant funds that are settled within three business days and restricted cash consists of merchant reserves.
 

 
Funds Held for Merchants
 
Funds held for merchants represents cash received by the Company from credit card networks and internet transaction processing which the Company collects on behalf
of certain merchants. Upon receiving the cash, the Company recognizes an offsetting liability reflected as funds owed to merchants until the funds are settled with the
merchants. The cash is settled to merchants within three to five business days.
 
Expected Merchant Funds
 
The expected merchant funds represent amounts due to the Company from credit card networks which the Company collects on behalf of certain merchants. Upon
recording the expected funds, the Company recognizes an offsetting liability reflected as funds owed to merchants until the funds are settled with the merchants.
 

Income Taxes
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded to reflect the future tax consequences attributable to the effects of differences between the carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities for financial reporting and their respective amounts used for income tax purposes. These tax effects are measured based on provisions of enacted tax
laws. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 

 
If interest or penalties are paid related to income taxes, they are recorded as tax expense. Interest and penalties paid during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and
2020 were immaterial. The years ended 2017, 2018 and 2019 remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance regarding lease accounting. The update includes a lessee accounting model with two types of leases: finance leases
and operating leases. The guidance requires that most leases be recognized on the balance sheet as a right of use asset with an associated lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The recognition, measurement, and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee will depend on its classification as a
finance or operating lease. Lessor accounting will remain substantially the same as the current model. The updates to lessor accounting focus on conforming to certain
changes made to the lessee model and the new revenue recognition standard. The guidance requires new disclosures with the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash
flows arising from leases. These disclosures include qualitative and quantitative requirements, providing key information about the leasing arrangements recorded in the
financial statements. The new guidance will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this
guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
 
In August 2018, the FASB issued new guidance on a customer’s accounting for implementation, set-up and other upfront costs incurred in a cloud computing
arrangement hosted by a service contract with a vendor. Under the new guidance, a customer will apply the same criteria for capitalizing implementation costs of a cloud
computing arrangement as it would for an on-premises software license. The new guidance will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, with
early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
 
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standards setting bodies that the Company adopts as of the specified effective date.
Unless otherwise discussed, the Company believes the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective are either not applicable to the Company at this time
or will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements upon adoption.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 

 
3. Revenues
 

Disaggregation of revenue
 
The following table presents disaggregated revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
  
     Three Months Ended  
    March 31, 2021     March 31, 2020  
Payment processing services     74,447,903      71,231,435 
Equipment sales     1,029,209      647,237 
Leasing-related revenue     814,462      960,116 
Software contracts     548,966      534,776 

Total Revenues   $ 76,840,540    $ 73,373,564 
  
Contract Acquisition Costs
 
The Company had net deferred contract acquisition costs at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 of $8,148,046 and $8,008,707, respectively, which are included in
noncurrent other assets. Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs at March 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1,447,443 and $1,281,499, respectively.
 
Contract Assets and Liabilities
 
The Company’s contract assets represent its right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that it has already transferred to its customers. As the Company’s
right to the consideration is entirely unconditional for all of its goods or services transferred to the customer as of the end of the period, all contract assets are classified
as receivables. Contract receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was $26,033,615 and $22,605,817, respectively.
 
The Company’s contract liabilities represent its obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received consideration. Contract
liabilities at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was $4,424,609 and $4,301,554, respectively. Revenue recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and
2020 from contract liability balances at the beginning of each period was $2,500,284 and $2,709,460 respectively.
 

4. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Credit Facility
 

Long-term debt and revolving credit facility consist of the following:
 
    March 31, 2021     December 31, 2020 
New term loan     251,062,500      251,062,500 
New revolving credit facility     -      - 

      251,062,500      251,062,500 
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs     4,955,776      5,162,266 

    $ 246,106,724    $ 245,900,234 
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 

 
Maturity requirements on long-term debt as of March 31, 2021 are as follows:
 
2021 (April - December)   $ - 
2022     - 
2023     - 
2024     - 
2025     - 
Thereafter     251,062,500 
    $ 251,062,500 

 
New Term Loan
 
On March 4, 2020, the Company entered into a syndicated loan agreement (the “New Term Loan”) with various financial institutions paying off the Previous First Lien
and the Previous Second Lien. The New Term Loan consists of a $275,000,000 term loan, including an original issue discount of $2,750,000, and a $40,000,000 new
revolving credit facility. All borrowings under the New Term Loan bear interest at a Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 4.0% or 3.75% or an Adjusted LIBO Rate plus
an Applicable Rate of 5.0% or 4.75% for the term loan and new revolving credit facility, respectively. The Base Rate is equal to the greater of prime rate, the NYFRB
Rate plus .5%, the Adjusted LIBO Rate as calculated in respect of a proposed Eurodollar loan based on the LIBO Screen Rate plus 1.0%, or 1%, per annum. After June
30, 2020, all new revolving credit facility borrowings under the New Term Loan bear interest at a Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 3.75% or 3.5% or an Adjusted
LIBO Rate plus an Applicable Rate of 4.75% or 4.5% based on the New Term Loan leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2020, the interest rate for the term loan was
5.23% and the new revolving credit facility was 7.00%. Quarterly payments of $687,500 are due on the term loan through December 31, 2026, with the remaining
principal due on March 4, 2027. During 2020, the Company made all the contractually required quarterly payments due through December 31, 2026. Balances on the
new revolving credit facility are due on March 4, 2025. Additionally, the Company pays a commitment fee on the unused portion of its new revolving credit facility of
0.5% or .375% based on the New Term Loan net leverage ratio. The New Term Loan may be prepaid at any time. The New Term Loan also requires additional principal
payments based upon annual calculation of excess cash flow as defined in the agreement. An additional principal payment was not required for the year ended December
31, 2020.
 
Borrowings under the New Term Loan are collateralized on a first priority basis by a security interest in substantially all assets of the Company. Under the terms of the
New Term Loan, the Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios and comply with certain covenants. The Company was in compliance with all of its
financial covenants during 2020 under the New Term Loan. In connection with the New Term Loan, the Company incurred fees of $7,470,502 of which $6,798,241 was
deferred and recognized as debt issuance costs and $672,260 was recorded to selling, general and administrative expenses. Deferred debt issuance costs at the time of the
event was $4,021,250 of which $762,064 was recorded as deferred debt issuance costs and the remaining $3,259,187 was recognized as a loss on extinguishment and
recorded to interest expense. The debt issuance costs for the term loan are amortized and netted against the outstanding debt balance and will be amortized over the life
of the New Term Loan under the effective interest method. The debt issuance costs for the new revolving credit facility will be amortized over the life of the new
revolving credit facility under the New Term Loan using the straight-line method. The charge to interest expense related to debt issuance costs was $358,963 and
$304,555 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

 
5. Commitments and Contingencies
 

Leases
 
The Company leases office space for its headquarters, operations and sales offices. These leases expire at various times and some of the leases have renewal, escalation
and abatement period clauses. The total amount of the minimum rent is expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
 
Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases at March 31, 2021 are summarized below:
 
    Operating  
    Leases  
2021 (April - December)   $ 3,463,529 
2022     4,875,588 
2023     4,484,371 
2024     4,383,763 
2025     4,232,191 
Thereafter     11,916,445 
    $ 33,355,887 

 
Rent expense for all operating leases for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1,201,687 and $1,187,186, respectively.
 
Payment Processing Agreements
 
The Company has agreements with several third-party processors to provide payment processing, transmittal, transaction authorization and data capture services, and
access to various reporting tools. These third-party processors include Worldpay, TSYS Acquiring Solutions, First Data Corporation, and Chase Paymentech Solutions.
Agreements with certain third-party processors require the Company to submit a minimum monthly number of transactions or volume for processing. If the Company
submits a number of transactions or volume that is lower than the minimum, the Company is required to pay the processor the fees that they would have received if the
Company had submitted the required minimum transactions or volume. The agreement expiration dates with these third-party processors range from yearly renewal
options to seven years.
 
The future minimum commitments required to be paid are summarized below:
 
2021 (April - December)   $ 1,321,504 
2022     1,562,005 
2023     1,440,000 
2024     1,440,000 
2025     1,440,000 
Thereafter     2,640,000 
    $ 9,843,509 
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 

 
Bank Processing Agreement
 
In connection with the Company’s credit card processing services, VISA and MasterCard require merchants accepting VISA and MasterCard credit cards to contract
directly with a processing bank that is a member bank of the VISA and MasterCard associations. The Company is dependent upon the contractual arrangement with its
processing bank to continue to service merchant portfolios. The Company has a contractual right to receive revenue derived from the discount rate and fees earned on its
merchant portfolios, as long as the merchant continues to process transactions on the processing bank’s systems and the Company remains in compliance under its
agreement with the processing bank.
 
In accordance with the Company’s contract with its processing bank, all of the funds collected and all disbursement functions are performed on behalf of the Company
by the processing bank. Disbursements for the interchange fee paid to the card issuing financial institutions are made daily.
 
Shortly after each month-end, the processing bank disburses to the Company the remainder of the funds collected from the merchants less the processing bank’s fees and
credit card network fees.
 
Litigation
 
From time to time the Company is involved in certain legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue
for amounts related to these legal proceedings if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable. In the opinion of the Company,
based on consultations with counsel, the results of any of these legal proceedings individually and in the aggregate, are not expected to have a material effect on its
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.
 
Severance
 
Certain officers of the Company have entered into employee agreements under which they are entitled to severance pay equal to their base salary for 12 to 24 months in
the event they are terminated by the Company other than for cause.
 
Data Breach

 
The Company collects and stores sensitive data about its merchant customers and bank cardholders. If the Company’s network security is breached or sensitive merchant
or cardholder data is misappropriated, the Company could be exposed to assessments, fines or litigation costs.
 

6. Income Taxes
 

The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was 25.1% and 3.6%, respectively. The differences in each period between the effective tax
rate and the federal statutory rate is due to the impacts of state and local taxes, nondeductible items and the results of the enactment of the CARES Act specifically
related to additional deductions related to the qualified improvement property and interest expense.
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FAPS Holdings, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 

 
7. Redeemable Preferred Stock
 

The following table presents redeemable preferred stock activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
 
    Series A                    
    Redeemable     Additional           Total  
    Preferred Stock     Paid-in     Accrued     Redeemable  
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Dividends     Preferred Stock  
Balances at December 31, 2019     10,039    $ 100.39    $ 10,038,900    $ 6,068,825    $ 16,107,825 
Accrued Dividends     -      -      -      483,235      483,235 
Balances at March 31, 2020     10,039      100.39      10,038,900      6,552,060      16,591,060 

                                    
Balances at December 31, 2020     10,039      100.39      10,038,900      8,090,499      18,129,499 
Conversion of Preferred Stock     (36)     (0.36)     (36,000)     (27,126)     (63,126)
Accrued Dividends     -      -      -      541,991      541,991 
Balances at March 31, 2021     10,003    $ 100.03    $ 10,002,900    $ 8,605,364    $ 18,608,364 

 
8. Related Party Transactions
 

In connection with the Acquisition on August 18, 2014, the Company entered into a Management Services Agreement with an affiliate of an equity investor under which
the affiliate provides to the Company transaction structuring and advisory services in connection with selected aspects of future transactions and such additional
management, financial, strategic planning and financial advisory services reasonably requested by the Company from time to time. The Company paid $125,000 and
$269,526 to this affiliate for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
 
The Company has an Independent Sales Organization (“ISO”) who is a family member with a senior executive of the Company. The Company made residual payments
to the ISO totaling $813,072 and $810,296 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
 
The Company entered into promissory note agreements that are recourse in nature with certain shareholders for payments of personal income taxes related to the
exercise of stock options. The notes bear interest at 2% per annum and are compounded annually on the unpaid balance. The principal plus accrued interest is due and
payable on the earliest of the seventh anniversary of the notes, the date the majority shareholder ceases to own at least 51% of the common stock of the Company, or the
first date on which the borrower is no longer an employee and ceases to own any shares of common stock. The promissory note balance as of March 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020 was $3,177,353 and $3,222,753, respectively.
 

9. Subsequent Events
 

The Company has evaluated events and transactions for recognition or disclosure in the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements through July 22, 2021,
the date the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. Other than the event discussed below, there were no other events or
transactions that required recognition or disclosure in the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
 
On April 21, 2021, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger to be acquired for total purchase consideration of $960,000,000, subject to customary
closing conditions. The transaction closed on June 1, 2021.
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Exhibit 99.3

 
Unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information

 
(in thousands)
 
On June 1, 2021, Deluxe Corporation (“Deluxe”) acquired all of the equity of FAPS Holdings, Inc. (“FAPS” or “First American”) in a cash transaction for $956,717, net of
cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents acquired, subject to customary adjustments under the terms of the acquisition agreement. The preliminary
allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed resulted in non-tax deductible goodwill of $736,308. The transaction resulted in goodwill as First
American provides an end-to-end payments technology platform, which Deluxe believes will provide significant leverage to accelerate organic growth.
 
In June 2021, Deluxe executed a new credit agreement that provides for a 5-year revolving credit facility with commitments of $500,000 (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and
a term loan facility in the amount of $1,155,000 (the “Term A Loan Facility”, and together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the “New Credit Facilities”). The Revolving
Credit Facility includes a $40,000 swingline sub-facility and a $25,000 letter of credit sub-facility. Deluxe’s previous credit facility agreement was terminated
contemporaneously with Deluxe’s entry into the new credit agreement and was repaid utilizing proceeds from the New Credit Facilities. Deluxe also utilized the proceeds from
the New Credit Facilities to complete the acquisition of First American in June 2021 and to pay related debt issuance costs. In June 2021, Deluxe issued $500,000 of 8.0%
senior unsecured notes that mature in June 2029 (the “senior notes”). The senior notes were issued via a private placement under Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933.
Proceeds from the senior notes offering, net of discount and offering costs, were $490,741, resulting in an effective interest rate of 8.3%. The net proceeds from the senior notes
offering were used to fund the acquisition of First American in June 2021.
 
The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of comprehensive
income for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 are based on the historical consolidated financial statements of Deluxe and FAPS.
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of comprehensive income give effect to the acquisition of FAPS and related financing as if it had occurred on January
1, 2020, and for purposes of the pro forma condensed combined balance sheet, as if it had occurred on March 31, 2021.
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not necessarily reflect what the combined company’s financial condition or results of operations
would have been had the acquisition of FAPS and the related financing occurred on the dates indicated. They also may not be useful in predicting the future financial condition
and results of operations of the combined company. The combined company’s actual financial condition and results of operations may differ materially from the pro forma
amounts reflected herein due to a variety of factors.
 
An updated determination of the fair value of First American’s assets acquired, and liabilities assumed, will be performed within one year of the closing of the acquisition. The
final purchase consideration allocation may be materially different than the preliminary purchase consideration allocation presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information. Any changes in the fair values of the net assets or total purchase consideration as compared with the information shown in the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined financial information may change the amount of the total purchase consideration allocated to goodwill and other assets and liabilities and may
impact the combined company’s balance sheet and statement of comprehensive income. As a result of the foregoing, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary and have been
made solely for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final
acquisition accounting may arise, and these differences could have a material impact on the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and
the combined company’s future results of operations and financial position.
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The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes are based on and should be read in conjunction with the audited and unaudited
historical financial statements and related notes of each of Deluxe and First American included elsewhere in this Form 8-K/A or included in Deluxe’s filings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. Assumptions underlying the pro forma adjustments are described in the accompanying notes, which should be read in conjunction with the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
 
Revision – As discussed in Deluxe’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of 2021, during the second quarter of 2021, Deluxe identified errors in the
calculations of the goodwill impairment charges recorded during the first quarter of 2020 and the third quarter of 2019, resulting in an understatement of the goodwill
impairment charges and net losses and an overstatement of goodwill. The errors in Deluxe’s calculations resulted from the erroneous application of the simultaneous equation
method, which effectively grosses up the goodwill impairment charge to account for the related income tax benefit, so that the resulting carrying value does not exceed the
calculated fair value.
 
The adjustments for 2020 resulted in an increase of $3,776 in the pretax asset impairment charges. Net of the related tax benefit of $212, this resulted in an increase in net loss
of $3,564 for 2020 and a decrease in net income of $3,563 for the year ended December 31, 2020. The impact of the revision on the consolidated statement of comprehensive
loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 was as follows:
 

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  
As previously

reported     Adjustments     As revised  
Asset impairment charges   $ (97,973)   $ (3,776)   $ (101,749)
Operating income     44,505      (3,776)     40,729 
Income before income taxes     30,579      (3,776)     26,803 
Income tax provision     (21,680)     212      (21,468)
Net income (loss)     8,899      (3,564)     5,335 
Net income (loss) attributable to Deluxe     8,808      (3,564)     5,244 
Basic loss per share     0.21      (0.09)     0.12 
Diluted loss per share     0.19      (0.08)     0.11 
 
The impact of the revision on the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 was as follows:
 

(in thousands)  
As previously

reported     Adjustments     As revised  
ASSETS                     
Deferred income taxes   $ 4,636    $ 1,198    $ 5,834 
Goodwill     736,862      (33,886)     702,976 
Total assets     1,893,252      (32,688)     1,860,564 
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY                 
Deferred income taxes   $ 15,265    $ (5,242)   $ 10,023 
Retained earnings     534,059      (27,446)     506,613 
Total shareholders' equity     558,819      (27,446)     531,373 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity     1,893,252      (32,688)     1,860,564 
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Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet
as of March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)
 

         

FAPS
Historical -

After
Reclassification    Transaction Accounting Adjustments            

Description  
Deluxe

Historical    
Adjustments

(Note 2)    
Financing

Adjustments     Note 4  
Acquisition

Adjustments     Note 4  
Pro Forma
Combined  

(in thousands)                                         
ASSETS                                           

Current Assets:                                           
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 125,440    $ 13,287    $ 985,090    [a]   $ (954,209)   [b]   $ 169,608 
Trade accounts receivable, net     139,547      26,034      -          1,262    [b]     166,843 
Inventories and supplies, net     37,119      1,343      -          639    [b]     39,101 
Funds held for customers     122,466      14,386      -          (6,480)   [b]     130,372 
Revenue in excess of billings     27,655      -      -          -          27,655 
Other current assets     52,269      3,921      -          2,560    [d]     58,750 
Total current assets     504,496      58,971      985,090          (956,228)         592,329 
                                            
Deferred income taxes     5,834      -      -          -          5,834 
Long-term investments     46,147      -      -          -          46,147 
Property, plant and equipment, net     87,836      13,689      -          (3,816)   [b]     97,709 
Operating lease assets     41,288      -      -          24,506    [e]     65,794 
Intangibles, net     254,152      74,132      -          201,285    [f]     529,569 
Goodwill     702,976      343,945      -          392,363    [g]     1,439,284 
Other non-current assets     217,835      11,067      5,380    [l]     (7,842)   [c] [h]     226,440 
Total assets   $ 1,860,564    $ 501,804    $ 990,470        $ (349,732)       $ 3,003,106 
                                            
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY                                           

Current liabilities:                                           
Accounts payable   $ 109,064    $ 2,840    $ -        $ 15,635    [b]   $ 127,539 
Funds held for customers     120,581      10,656      -          (1,228)   [b]     130,009 

Accrued liabilities     174,923      47,130      -          (10,642)  
[e]
[j][k]     211,411 

Total current liabilities     404,568      60,626      -          3,765          468,959 
                                            
Long-term debt     840,000      246,107      990,470    [n]     (246,107)   [i]     1,830,470 
Operating lease liabilities     34,288      -      -          21,427    [e]     55,714 
Deferred income taxes     10,023      26,505      -          51,216    [k]     87,744 
Other non-current liabilities     40,312      4,493      -          (116)   [b]     44,690 
Commitments and contingencies     -      -      -          -          - 
                                            

Shareholders' equity:                                           
Common shares     42,104      -      -          -          42,104 
Class A common stock     -      100      -          (100)   [m]     - 
Class B common stock     -      -      -          -    [m]     - 
Class C common stock     -      -      -          -    [m]     - 
Redeemable preferred stock     -      18,608      -          (18,608)   [m]     - 
Treasury stock, at cost     -      (1,991)     -          1,991    [m]     - 
Shareholder notes receivable     -      (3,177)     -          3,177    [d]     - 
Additional paid-in capital     22,306      151,521      -          (151,521)   [m]     22,306 
Retained earnings     506,613      (987)     -          (14,856)   [m]     490,770 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (39,824)     -      -          -    [m]     (39,824)
Non-controlling interest     174      -      -          -          174 
Total shareholders' equity     531,373      164,073      -          (179,917)         515,529 
                                            
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   $ 1,860,564    $ 501,804    $ 990,470        $ (349,732)       $ 3,003,106 
 
Refer to the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive income
for the three months ended March 31, 2021
(Dollars in thousands)

         

FAPS
Historical -

After
Reclassification    Transaction Accounting Adjustments            

Description  
Deluxe

Historical    
Adjustments

(Note 2)    
Financing

Adjustments     Note 5  
Acquisition

Adjustments     Note 5  
Pro Forma
Combined  

(in thousands)                                           
Product revenue   $ 299,053    $ 4,888    $ -        $ -        $ 303,941 
Service revenue     142,211      71,953      -          -          214,164 
Total revenue     441,264      76,841      -          -          518,105 
Cost of products     (107,325)     (2,838)     -          -          (110,163)
Cost of services     (71,184)     (41,774)     -          (2,063)   [a]    (115,021)
Total cost of revenue     (178,509)     (44,612)     -          (2,063)         (225,184)
Gross profit     262,755      32,229      -          (2,063)         292,921 
                                            
Selling, general and administrative expense     (212,436)     (22,114)     -          925    [a] [d] [h]    (233,625)
Restructuring and integration expense     (14,313)     -      -          -          (14,313)
Asset impairment charges     -      -      -          -          - 
Operating income (loss)     36,006      10,115      -          (1,138)         44,983 
                                            
Interest expense     (4,524)     (3,708)     (13,716)   [c]    3,708    [b]    (18,240)
Other income     2,033      10      -          -          2,043 
Income (loss) before income taxes     33,515      6,417      (13,716)         2,570          28,786 
                                            
Income tax provision     (9,190)     (1,607)     3,566    [e]    (786)   [e]    (8,017)
Net income     24,325      4,810      (10,150)         1,784          20,769 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest     (33)     -      -          -          (33)
Net income attributable to controlling interest   $ 24,292    $ 4,810    $ (10,150)       $ 1,784        $ 20,736 
Basic earnings per share     0.58                                 0.49 
Diluted earnings per share     0.57                                 0.48 
Basic weighted average shares outstanding     42,046                       294    [i]    42,340 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding     42,504                       352    [i]    42,856 
 
Refer to the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of comprehensive income (loss)
for the year ended December 31, 2020
(Dollars in thousands)

         

FAPS
Historical -

After
Reclassification    Transaction Accounting Adjustments            

Description  
Deluxe

Historical    
Adjustments

(Note 2)    
Financing

Adjustments     Note 5  
Acquisition

Adjustments     Note 5  
Pro Forma
Combined  

(in thousands)                                           
Product revenue   $ 1,230,638    $ 18,460    $ -        $ -        $ 1,249,098 
Service revenue     560,143      269,862      -          -          830,005 
Total revenue     1,790,781      288,322      -          -          2,079,103 
Cost of products     (458,637)     (10,661)     -          -          (469,298)
Cost of services     (272,134)     (155,840)     -          (8,250)   [a]     (436,224)
Total cost of revenue     (730,771)     (166,501)     -          (8,250)         (905,522)
Gross profit     1,060,010      121,821      -          (8,250)         1,173,581 
                                            
Selling, general and administrative expense     (841,658)     (94,502)     -          (32,315)   [a][d] [f][g]    (968,475)
Restructuring and integration expense     (75,874)     -      -          -          (75,874)
Asset impairment charges     (101,749)     -      -          -          (101,749)
Operating income (loss)     40,729      27,319      -          (40,565)         27,483 
                                            
Interest expense     (23,140)     (21,643)     (51,262)   [c]     21,643    [b]     (74,402)
Other income     9,214      16      -          -          9,230 
Income (loss) before income taxes     26,803      5,692      (51,262)         (18,922)         (37,689)
                                            
Income tax provision     (21,468)     (2,091)     13,328    [e]     2,598    [e]     (7,633)
Net income (loss)     5,335      3,601      (37,934)         (16,324)         (45,322)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest     (91)     -      -          -          (91)
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interest   $ 5,244    $ 3,601    $ (37,934)       $ (16,324)       $ (45,413)
Basic earnings (loss) per share     0.12                                 (1.08)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share     0.12                                 (1.09)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding     41,931                       294    [i]    42,225 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding     42,142                       83    [i]    42,225 
 
Refer to the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
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Notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information
 
Note 1 – Basis of presentation
 
The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes were prepared pursuant with Article 11 of SEC Regulation S-X as
amended by the final rule, Release No. 33-10786 “Amendments to Financial Disclosures about Acquired and Disposed Businesses.” The unaudited pro forma condensed
combined statements of comprehensive income for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020 combine the historical consolidated
statements of comprehensive income of Deluxe and First American included in the applicable 2021 first quarter financial statements and 2020 year-end financial statements,
giving effect to the merger as if it had been completed on January 1, 2020. The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021
combines the historical consolidated balance sheets of Deluxe and First American included in the applicable 2021 first quarter financial statements, giving effect to the
acquisition of FAPS as if it had been completed on March 31, 2021.
 
Deluxe and First American’s historical financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. As discussed in Note 2, certain information of First American, as
presented in its historical financial statements, has been reclassified to conform to the historical presentation of Deluxe’s financial statements for purposes of preparing the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. Further, there were no material transactions and balances between Deluxe and First American as of and for the
three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020.
 
The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes were prepared using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance
with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations, with Deluxe considered the acquirer of First American. ASC 805 requires, among other
things, that the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed in a business combination be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. For purposes of the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined balance sheet, the purchase consideration has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of First American based upon
management’s preliminary estimate of their fair values as of June 1, 2021. The excess of the acquisition consideration over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed is allocated to goodwill. Accordingly, the purchase price allocation and related adjustments reflected in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information are preliminary and subject to revision based on a final determination of fair value. The acquisition consideration as well as the estimated fair values of the assets
and liabilities will be updated and finalized as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from the closing of the acquisition. Deluxe believes that its assumptions and
methodologies provide a reasonable basis for presenting all of the significant effects of the acquisition of FAPS and the debt financing based on information available to
management at the time of preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and that the pro forma transaction accounting adjustments give
effect to those assumptions and are properly applied in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information.
 
Note 2 – Reclassification adjustments
 
As part of preparing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, management performed a preliminary analysis of First American’s financial
information to identify differences in accounting policies as compared to those of Deluxe and differences in financial statement presentation as compared to the presentation of
Deluxe.
 
Refer to the table below for a summary of identified reclassification adjustments made to present First American’s consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 to conform
presentation to that of Deluxe and to Note 4 in relation to adoption of leasing standard ASC 842 for additional information:
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FAPS Consolidated Balance Sheet Line Items  
Deluxe Consolidated Balance

Sheet Line Items  

FAPS
Historical

Consolidated
Balance

Sheet     Reclassification    Note 2  

FAPS
Historical -

After
Reclassification

(rounded)  
                           (In thousands) 
Cash & cash equivalents   Cash and cash equivalents   $ 13,287,322    $ -       $ 13,287 
Current portion of restricted cash         316,889      (316,889)   (a)    - 
Funds held for merchants   Funds held for customers     9,882,827      4,503,481    (a)    14,386 
Accounts receivable, net   Trade accounts receivable, net     26,033,615                 26,034 
Expected merchant funds         456,307      (456,307)   (a)    - 
Current portion of lease payments receivable, net         559,928      (559,928)   (b)    - 
Inventory, net   Inventories and supplies, net     1,343,392      -          1,343 
Current portion of notes receivable         -      -          - 
Other current assets   Other current assets     3,360,594      559,928    (b)    3,921 
Restricted cash         3,730,285      (3,730,285)   (a)    - 
Lease payments receivable, net         1,296,490      (1,296,490)   (c)    - 
Other assets   Other non-current assets     9,770,632      1,296,490    (c)    11,067 
Property and equipment, net   Property, plant and equipment, net     32,537,255      (18,847,911)   (c)    13,689 
Intangible assets, net   Intangibles, net     55,283,892      18,847,911    (c)    74,132 
Goodwill   Goodwill     343,945,227      -          343,945 
Funds owed to merchants   Funds held for customers     10,656,022      -          10,656 
Accounts payable   Accounts payable     2,839,803                 2,840 
Income taxes payable         1,785,558      (1,785,558)   (d)    - 
Reserve for chargebacks and merchant loss         426,933      (426,933)   (d)    - 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   Accrued liabilities     40,492,883      6,637,100    (d)    47,130 
Deferred revenue         4,424,609      (4,424,609)   (d)    - 
Other long-term liabilities   Other non-current liabilities     4,493,276      -          4,493 
Deferred tax liability, net   Deferred income taxes     26,505,444      -          26,505 
Long-term debt obligations   Long-term debt     246,106,724      -          246,107 
Redeemable preferred stock         18,608,364      -          18,608 
    Common shares     -      -          - 
Common stock-Class C         -      -         - 
Common stock-Class B         -      -          - 
Common stock-Class A         99,512      -          100 
Treasury stock         (1,991,123)     -          (1,991)
Additional paid-in capital   Additional paid-in capital     151,520,522                 151,521 
Shareholder notes receivable         (3,177,353)     -          (3,177)
Retained earnings   Accumulated deficit     (986,519)     -          (987)
 

(a) Represents a reclassification of current portion of restricted cash, expected merchant funds, and restricted cash to funds held for customers to conform to Deluxe
presentation.
 

(b) Represents a reclassification of current portion of lease payments receivable, net and current portion of notes receivable to other current assets to conform to Deluxe
presentation.
 

(c) Represents a reclassification of lease payments receivable and notes receivable to other non-current assets and a reclassification of capitalized computer software costs
(included in First American’s property & equipment financial statement line item) to intangible assets to conform to Deluxe presentation.
 

(d) Represents a reclassification of income taxes payable, reserve for chargebacks and merchant loss, and deferred revenue to accrued liabilities to conform to Deluxe
presentation.

 
*Amounts may not sum due to rounding.
 

Refer to the table below for a summary of reclassification adjustments made to First American’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the three months ended
March 31, 2021 to conform presentation:
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FAPS Consolidated Comprehensive
income Statement Line Items  

Deluxe Consolidated Comprehensive
income Statement Line Items  

FAPS
Consolidated
Statement of

Comprehensive
income     Reclassification       

FAPS
Historical -

After
Reclassification

(rounded)  
                            (In thousands) 
Revenue       $ 76,840,540    $ (76,840,540)   (e)   $ - 
    Product revenue     -      4,888,034    (e)     4,888 
    Service revenue     -      71,952,506    (e)     71,953 
Other costs of service         44,612,118      (44,612,118)   (f)     - 
    Cost of products     -      2,837,897    (f)     2,838 
    Cost of services     -      41,774,221    (f)     41,774 

Selling, general and administrative expenses  
Selling, general and administrative
expense     16,834,392      5,279,885    (g)     22,114 

Depreciation and amortization         5,279,885      (5,279,885)   (g)     - 
Interest expense   Interest expense     3,708,402                 3,708 
Other (income) expense   Other income, net     (10,140)                (10)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes   Income tax provision     1,606,863                 1,607 
 

(e) Represents a reclassification of revenue to product revenue and service revenue to conform to Deluxe presentation.
 

(f) Represents a reclassification of cost of sales to cost of products and cost of services to conform to Deluxe presentation.
 

(g) Represents a reclassification of depreciation and amortization to selling, general and administrative expenses to conform to Deluxe presentation.
 

Refer to the table below for a summary of reclassification adjustments made to First American’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December
31, 2020 to conform presentation:
 

FAPS Consolidated Comprehensive
income Statement Line Items  

Deluxe Consolidated Comprehensive
income Statement Line Items  

FAPS
Consolidated
Statement of

Comprehensive
income     Reclassification    Note 2  

FAPS
Historical -

After
Reclassification

(rounded)  
                           (In thousands) 
Revenue       $ 288,322,188    $ (288,322,188)   (e)   $ - 
    Product revenue     -      18,460,488    (e)     18,460 
    Service revenue     -      269,861,700    (e)     269,862 
Other costs of service         166,501,208      (166,501,208)   (f)     - 
    Cost of products     -      10,660,621    (f)     10,661 
    Cost of services     -      155,840,587    (f)     155,840 

Selling, general and administrative expenses  
Selling, general and administrative
expense     70,109,486      24,393,067    (g)     94,502 

Depreciation and amortization         24,393,067      (24,393,067)   (g)     - 
Interest expense   Interest expense     21,642,621                 21,643 
Other (income) expense   Other income, net     (16,440)                (16)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes   Income tax provision     2,091,075                 2,091 
 

(e) Represents a reclassification of revenue to product revenue and service revenue to conform to Deluxe presentation.
 

(f) Represents a reclassification of cost of sales to cost of products and cost of services to conform to Deluxe presentation.
 

(g) Represents a reclassification of depreciation and amortization to selling, general and administrative expenses to conform to Deluxe presentation.
 
Note 3 - Preliminary purchase price allocation
 
On June 1, 2021, Deluxe acquired all of the equity of First American in a cash transaction for $956,717, net of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash
equivalents acquired, subject to customary adjustments under the terms of the acquisition agreement. The preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed resulted in non-tax deductible goodwill of $736,308. The transaction resulted in goodwill as First American provides an end-to-end payments technology
platform, which Deluxe believes will provide significant leverage to accelerate organic growth.
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The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination and the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was based upon
preliminary valuations performed to determine the fair values of the acquired items as of the acquisition date. As these valuations, particularly as they relate to intangible assets,
were preliminary, they may be adjusted for up to one year after the closing date to reflect final valuations. The following illustrates the preliminary allocation of the purchase
price, as of June 30, 2021, to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
 

(in thousands)  
Purchase price

allocation  
Accounts receivable   $ 27,296 
Other current assets     8,533 
Property, plant and equipment     9,873 
Operating lease assets     24,506 
Intangible assets:       
Customer relationships     118,000 
Partner relationships     67,000 
Technology-based intangibles     66,000 
Trade names     22,000 
Internal-use software     2,417 
Total intangible assets     275,417 
Goodwill     736,308 
Other non-current assets     350 
Accounts payable     (18,475)
Funds held for customers     (9,428)
Accrued liabilities     (20,645)
Operating lease liabilities, non-current     (21,426)
Deferred income taxes     (51,216)
Other non-current liabilities     (4,376)
Payment for acquisition, net of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents acquired of $15,841   $ 956,717 
 
Note 4 – Adjustments to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet
 
Refer to the items below for a reconciliation of the pro forma adjustments reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet:
 

(a) Represents cash received from issuance of the Term A Loan Facility in June 2021 due in 2026 (interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.25%), the Revolving Credit Facility due
in 2026 (interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.25%), and the senior notes due 2029. Assumes a drawdown of $198,000 of total available $500,000 of the Revolving Credit
Facility. Additionally, represents the repayment of the amount drawn on Deluxe’s existing credit facility of approximately $840,000.

 
Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Proceeds from the Term A Loan Facility due in 2026   $ 1,155,000 
Proceeds from the Revolving Credit Facility due in 2026     198,000 
Proceeds from the senior notes due 2029     500,000 
Total sources of funding     1,853,000 
Debt issuance costs (i)     (27,910)
Total sources of funding, net of debt issuance costs     1,825,090 
Repayment of existing credit facility     (840,000)
Cash (pro forma financing adjustment)   $ 985,090 
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(i) In relation to the Term A Loan Facility, the Revolving Credit Facility, and the senior notes due 2029, estimated debt issuance costs amount to $14,100,
$5,400 and $8,400, respectively. The deferred debt issuance costs related to the Term A Loan Facility and the senior notes due 2029 are presented as a direct
deduction from the face amount of the debt, while the deferred debt issuance costs related to the Revolving Credit Facility are classified as other assets.

 
(b) Represents the cash consideration paid to FAPS shareholders (a portion of which First American used to repay the existing outstanding debt and associated accrued

interest) and the adjustments necessary to reflect the fair value of assets and liabilities on the acquisition date. The $972,558 includes $15,841 of cash, cash
equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents acquired.

 

(in thousands)  
Purchase price

allocation  
Cash   $ 5,061 
Accounts receivable     27,296 
Inventory     1,982 
Funds held for customers     7,906 
Other current assets     6,481 
Property, plant and equipment     9,873 
Operating lease assets     24,506 
Intangible assets:       
Customer relationships     118,000 
Partner relationships     67,000 
Technology-based intangibles     66,000 
Trade names     22,000 
Internal-use software     2,417 
Total intangible assets     275,417 
Goodwill     736,308 
Other non-current assets     3,225 
Accounts payable     (18,475)
Funds held for customers     (9,428)
Accrued liabilities     (20,645)
Operating lease liabilities, non-current     (21,426)
Deferred income taxes     (51,216)
Other non-current liabilities     (4,376)
Payment for acquisition   $ 972,558 

 
(c) Represents the elimination of previously capitalized indirect leasing costs on First American’s balance sheet as under the acquisition method of accounting,

capitalization of initial direct costs does not qualify for recognition as an asset ($206 as of March 31, 2021).
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Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Elimination of FAPS historical capitalized initial leasing direct costs - Note 4(c)   $ (206)
Adjustments necessary to reflect the fair value of assets and liabilities on the acquisition date as noted in
note 4(b)     511 
Elimination of deferred contract acquisition costs – see Note 4(h)     (8,147)
Other non-current assets (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ (7,842)

 
(d) Represents the reclassification of the existing First American shareholder notes receivable from equity to other current assets as such amounts represent a receivable

from the selling shareholders which were repaid following the acquisition of FAPS (approximately $3,200 as of March 31, 2021) and the adjustments necessary to
reflect the fair value of assets and liabilities on the acquisition date as noted in note 4(b).

 
(e) Represents an adjustment for the estimated impact of the new leasing standard (ASC 842), assuming First American had adopted this standard as of March 31, 2021.

For the purpose of the pro forma financial statements, right of use assets is presented as an estimate that equals to the operating lease liability.
 

Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Right-of use assets, net (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ 24,506 
Operating lease liabilities       
     Current (pro forma acquisition adjustment)     3,079 
     Long-term (pro forma acquisition adjustment)     21,427 
          Total   $ 24,506 

 
(f) Represents the pro forma adjustment to intangible assets, net based on a preliminary fair value assessment:

 
Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
To record the fair value of intangible assets acquired   $ 275,417 
Elimination of FAPS’ historical intangible assets, net     (74,132)
Intangibles, net (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ 201,285 

 
The fair values of the intangible assets were determined using income approaches based on specific data provided by Deluxe and First American. Market participant
assumptions were also used in valuation analysis where appropriate.
 
The fair values of the customer-related and partner relationship intangible assets were determined by using an income approach, specifically a multi-period excess
earnings method (MPEEM), which is a commonly accepted valuation approach. The MPEEM is a specific application of the discounted cash flow (DCF) method. The
principle behind the MPEEM is that the value of an intangible asset is equal to the present value of the incremental after-tax cash flows attributable only to the subject
intangible asset after deducting contributory asset charges (CAC). The principle behind a CAC is that an intangible asset ‘rents’ or ‘leases’ from a hypothetical third
party all the assets it requires to produce the cash flows resulting from its development, that each project rents only those assets it needs (including elements of
goodwill) and not the ones that it does not need, and that each project pays the owner of the assets a fair return on (and of, when appropriate) the value of the rented
assets.
 
The fair values of the trade names and technology-based intangibles were also determined by using an income approach, specifically the Relief-from-Royalty Method,
which is a commonly accepted valuation approach. The basic tenet of the Relief-from-Royalty Method is that without ownership of the subject intangible asset, the
user of that intangible asset would have to make a stream of payments to the owner of the asset in return for the rights to use that asset. By acquiring the intangible
asset, the user avoids these payments.
 

(g) Represents the recognition of the goodwill based on the preliminary purchase price allocation. The preliminary purchase price allocation represents the excess of the
estimated merger consideration over the preliminary fair value of the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Refer to Note 3 for further details related to
the preliminary estimated merger consideration allocation. This adjustment also includes the elimination of First American’s historical goodwill of $343,945 as of
March 31, 2021.
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Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Elimination of FAPS historical goodwill   $ (343,945)
Recognition of goodwill based on preliminary purchase price allocation – see Note 3     736,308 
Goodwill (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ 392,363 

 
(h) Represents the elimination of First American’s historical deferred contract acquisition costs of approximately $8,100 as of March 31, 2021 classified in “other non-

current assets”, as under the acquisition method of accounting, deferred contract costs do not qualify for recognition as an asset.
 

(i) Represents the repayment of First American’s term loan (long-term debt pro forma acquisition adjustments).
 

Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Repayment of existing debt (FAPS)   $ (251,063)
Elimination of unamortized debt issuance costs (FAPS)     4,956 
Long-term debt (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ (246,107)

 
(j) Represents the accrual of additional $15,843 transaction costs incurred by Deluxe and First American subsequent to March 31, 2021. The remaining transaction costs

are included in the historical comprehensive income statement of Deluxe for the three months ended March 31, 2021. These costs will not affect the comprehensive
income statement beyond 12 months after the acquisition date. Also represents the elimination of the accrued interest on First American’s existing debt which is repaid
(see Note 4(i)).

 
Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Current portion of operating lease liabilities – Note 4(e)   $ 3,079 
Accrual of estimated transaction cost – see above     15,843 
Elimination of FAPS’ accrued interest– see above     (3,067)
Adjustments necessary to reflect the fair value of assets and liabilities on the acquisition date as noted in note 4(b)     (24,712)
Elimination of FAPS’ income taxes payable – Note 4(k)     (1,785)
 Accrued liabilities (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ (10,642)

 
(k) Represents a deferred income tax liability resulting from the preliminary fair value adjustment to intangible assets and other deferrals. The estimate of the deferred tax

liability was determined based on the book and tax basis difference using an estimated blended statutory income tax rate of 26%. This estimate of the deferred income
tax liability is preliminary and is subject to change based upon the final determination of the fair values of identifiable intangible assets acquired by jurisdiction.

 
First American’s historical income taxes payable have also been removed.
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(l) Represents deferred debt issuance costs related to the Revolving Credit Facility which are classified as other assets.
 

(m) Represents the elimination of First American’s equity and other equity adjustments in connection with the acquisition:
 

Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Common Stock - Class A   $ (100)
Common Stock - Class B     - 
Common Stock - Class C     - 
Preferred Stock     (18,608)
Treasury Stock     1,991 
Additional paid in capital     (151,521)
    $ (168,238)
        
Elimination of FAPS’ retained earnings     987 
Acquisition related transaction cost – See Note 4(j)     (15,843)
Retained earnings (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ (14,856)

 
 

(n) Represents issuance of the Term A Loan Facility due in 2026 (interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.25%), the Revolving Credit Facility due in 2026 (interest rate of LIBOR
plus 2.25%), and the senior notes due 2029. Assumes a drawdown of $198,000 of total available $500,000 of the Revolving Credit Facility. Additionally, represents the
repayment of the amount drawn on Deluxe’s existing credit facility of approximately $840,000.

 
Description   Amount  
(in thousands)       
Issuance of the Term A Loan Facility due in 2026   $ 1,155,000 
Assumed draw on the Revolving Credit Facility due in 2026     198,000 
Issuance of the senior notes due 2029     500,000 
Total debt prior to debt issuance costs     1,853,000 
Debt issuance costs (i)     (22,530)
Total sources of funding, net of debt issuance costs     1,830,470 
Repayment of existing credit facility     (840,000)
Long-term debt (pro forma financing adjustment)   $ 990,470 

 
(i) The deferred debt issuance costs related to the term loan and senior unsecured note of $14,100 and $8,4000, respectively are presented as a direct deduction from
the face amount of the debt, while the deferred debt issuance costs related to the Revolving Credit Facility are classified as other assets.
 

Note 5 – Adjustments to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of comprehensive income
 
Refer to the items below for a reconciliation of the adjustments reflected in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of comprehensive income:
 

(a) Represents the pro forma acquisition adjustment to record the amortization expense based on the fair value of identified intangible assets including internally
developed software discussed in Note 4(f). In addition, represents the removal of amortization expense associated with First American’s historical intangible assets
discussed in Note 4(f), internally developed software discussed in Note 4(f), deferred contract acquisition costs in Note 4(h) and capitalized indirect leasing costs in
Note 4(c).
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Description   Note    

Three Months
Ended March

31, 2021    

Year Ended
December
31, 2020  

(in thousands)                      
Amortization expense for acquired intangible assets     (i)     $ (9,852)   $ (47,589)
Less: Historical FAPS intangible asset amortization             3,569      17,393 
Less: Historical FAPS internally developed software amortization             1,148      4,488 
Less: Historical FAPS deferred contract acquisition cost amortization             1,447      5,187 
Less: Historical FAPS capitalized indirect lease cost amortization             30      126 
Technology-related intangible amortization reflected in cost of services (pro forma acquisition
adjustment)           $ (2,063)   $ (8,250)
All other Intangible asset amortization reflected in selling, general and administrative expense
 (pro forma acquisition adjustment)           $ (1,595)   $ (12,145)

 
(i) In accordance with the acquisition method of accounting provisions under ASC 805, assets acquired, and liabilities assumed in a business combination are to be

recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. As part of the pro forma adjustments, First American’s historical intangible assets and associated
amortization are removed from the presented unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. Accordingly, the acquired intangible assets
including technology-based intangibles, trade names, partner relationships and customer relationships are recorded at their fair value and are amortized giving
effect to the acquisition as if it has been completed on January 1, 2020. The newly acquired trade names, partner relationships and technology-based intangibles
have been amortized under straight-line method based on estimated useful lives ranging from 7 to 15 years. The newly acquired customer relationships have been
amortized on an accelerated method over a useful life of 5 to 10 years. A 10% change in the valuation of intangible assets would cause a corresponding increase or
decrease in the balance of goodwill and annual amortization expense of approximately $3,100, assuming an overall weighted average useful life of 9.8 years.

 

Intangible Type   Fair Value    

Estimated
useful life (in

years)    

Amortization
Expense

Three Months
Ended March

31, 2021    

Amortization
Expense

Year Ended
December
31, 2020  

(in thousands)                            
Trade names   $ 22,000      10    $ (550)   $ (2,200)
Partner segment merchant (customer relationships)     22,000      7      (1,030)     (5,500)
Merchant relationships (customer relationships)     96,000      5 to 10      (5,092)     (27,172)
Partner relationships     67,000      15      (1,117)     (4,467)
Technology-based intangibles     66,000      8      (2,063)     (8,250)
Acquired intangible assets                 $ (9,852)   $ (47,589)

 

Description  

Three Months
Ended March

31, 2021    

Year Ended
December
31, 2020  

(in thousands)              
Intangible asset amortization pro forma acquisition adjustment – Note 5(a)   $ (1,595)   $ (12,145)
Loan commitment fee – see Note 5(d)     (245)     (982)
Accrual of transaction cost – see Note 5(f)     2,765      (18,608)
Acceleration of share-based compensation expense – see Note 5(g)     -      (580)
 Selling, general and administrative expense (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ 925    $ (32,315)
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(b) FAPS’s term loan debt was repaid as part of the acquisition of FAPS. The adjustment represents the elimination of interest expense and debt issuance cost amortization

associated with FAPS’s existing debt for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the three months ended March 31, 2021.
 

Description  

Three Months
Ended March

31, 2021    

Year Ended
December
31, 2020  

(in thousands)              
Elimination of interest expense (FAPS)   $ 3,349    $ 20,432 
Elimination of unamortized debt issuance cost (FAPS)     359      1,211 
Interest expense (pro forma acquisition adjustment)   $ 3,708    $ 21,643 

 
(c) Represents the recognition of interest expense including the amortization of debt issuance cost related to the new debt financing to fund the acquisition less the

elimination of Deluxe’s historical interest expense and debt issuance amortization costs related to the existing credit facility ($840,000 as of March 31, 2021). Deluxe
new debt consists of a variable rate $1,155,000 Term A Loan Facility that matures in 2026 (interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.25%), a variable rate Revolving Credit
Facility of $500,000 that matures in 2026 (interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.25%), and the senior notes that mature in 2029. For the purposes of these unaudited pro forma
condensed combined financial information, Deluxe assumed a drawdown of $198,000 of total available $500,000 of the Revolving Credit Facility. In relation to the
Term A Loan Facility, the Revolving Credit Facility, and the senior notes due 2029, estimated debt issuance costs amount to $14,100, $5,400 and $8,400, respectively
for total debt issuance costs of $28,000. For purposes of calculating the pro forma interest expense, Deluxe used interest rates of 2.5% related to the $1,115,000 Term
A Loan Facility and 2.5% related to the $198,000 draw on the Revolving Credit Facility for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31,
2020.

 

Description  

Three Months
Ended March

31, 2021    

Year Ended
December
31, 2020  

(in thousands)              
Interest expense for Term A Loan Facility, Revolving Credit Facility and senior unsecured notes   $ (17,002)   $ (69,450)
Amortization of debt issuance costs for Term A Loan Facility, Revolving Credit Facility and senior unsecured
notes     (1,238)     (4,952)
Less:              
Elimination of existing interest expense associated with existing debt     4,314      22,299 
Elimination of existing debt issuance amortization     210      841 
Interest Expense (pro forma financing adjustment)   $ (13,716)   $ (51,262)

 
The table below sets forth the impact that a 0.125% increase or decrease in the hypothetical assumed interest rate would have on interest expense for the relevant
periods for only the variable rate debt (the Term A Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit Facility). For the purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial information, Deluxe assumed a drawdown of $198,000 of total available $500,000 of the Revolving Credit Facility.
 

Description  

Three Months
Ended March

31, 2021    

Year Ended
December
31, 2020  

(in thousands)              
1/8% increase   $ (405)   $ (1,691)
1/8% decrease   $ 405    $ 1,691 

 
(d) Amounts totaling $245 and $982 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, respectively, represent the recognition of loan

commitment fee expense for the $500,000 Revolving Credit Facility. For the purposes of these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information,
Deluxe assumed a drawdown of $198,000 of total available $500,000 of the Revolving Credit Facility. The remaining available line of credit will incur fees of
approximately 32.5 basis points.
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(e) Represents the pro forma adjustment to record the income tax impact of the pro forma adjustments utilizing estimated consolidated effective taxes rates for the year

ended December 31, 2020 and the interim period of March 31, 2021.
 

(f) Represents the accrual of additional $18,608 transaction costs incurred by Deluxe and First American. These costs will not affect the comprehensive income statement
beyond 12 months after the acquisition date.

 
(g) Represents acceleration of all of First American’s unvested stock option awards immediately upon consummation of the acquisition. As the compensation expenses are

not yet recognized in the periods presented in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements, a transaction accounting adjustment of $580 was
recorded to reflect the acceleration.

 
(h) Includes the pro forma adjustment to remove transaction expenses of $2,765 which were incurred in Q1 2021 but are reflected in Q1 2020 for pro forma purposes.

 
(i) Represents the proforma weighted average shares outstanding of additional equity awards issued to First American employees pursuant to the Business Combination

Agreement and Letter Agreement, assuming those shares and awards were outstanding for the respective periods presented.  Income (loss) attributable to controlling
interest for the purposes of calculating earnings per share, if dilutive, is impacted by participating securities of historical Deluxe and the re-measurement of share-
based awards classified as liabilities of historical Deluxe.   For purposes of calculating  pro  forma  Basic and Diluted earnings per share, income attributable to
controlling interest for the three months ended March 31, 2021  is  $20,717 and $20,736, respectively.    For purposes of calculating  pro forma  Basic and Diluted
earnings (loss) per share, income (loss) attributable to controlling interest for the year ended December 31, 2020 is ($45,466) and ($46,092), respectively. 
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